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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 March 2023, UBA Investments Limited and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) recorded a loss of approximately HK$14.4
million (2022: HK$0.13 million) made up of realised and unrealised
loss of HK$0.55 million and HK$11.9 million respectively in relation to
the listed securities (2022: realised gain and unrealised loss of HK$0.7
million and HK$2.4 million respectively), and unrealised loss of HK$0.9
million in relation to the unlisted equity investment (2022: unrealised
gain of HK$1.85 million). The loss per share was HK$0.0113 (2022:
HK$0.0001).

Gross proceeds from disposal of trading securities increased by 100%
from HK$10.4 million to HK$20.9 million and the Group made some
yield enhancement swap investment under the present uncertainty of
the macroeconomic environment which was mainly affected by interest
rate hike in the U.S. during the year. Also, we would like to minimize
potential loss from these highly volatile stock markets, as the Group
must be prudent and maintain those high yield blue chip securities in
order to generate dividends for operations and sufficient funds to meet
coming investment opportunities. Therefore, it was not in line with the
decreasing market turnover of approximately 19% in the Hang Seng
Index (“HSI”) compared with that of last year. As at 31 March 2023, the
net asset value decreased by 14% from HK$104.6 million to HK$90.1
million, in line with the decrement of 7% of the HSI during this year.

Throughout the corresponding period, the global and local equity
markets had experienced intense volatility. The Group’s proactive
investment strategy was to maximize profit for shareholders, through
investment in listed securities with relatively high yield, especially the
banking and telecommunications sectors which contributed 80% in
dividend income from all dividend generated from listed securities
investment during the year.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s investment portfolio was well
diversified and comprised of different sectors including banking,
telecommunications, transportation, retail businesses, properties,
manufacturing, construction etc, including investment in listed securities
amounted HK$83.4 million (2022: HK$97.2 million) and unlisted
investment with fair value at amount HK$2.4 million (2022: HK$3.3
million). There was no addition of the unlisted investment during the
year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The strategy of the Group in the short term is to trade listed securities
depending on the market sentiment and to maintain sufficient dividends
level for the Group operations. For the long term strategy, it is to
balance the listed and unlisted investment so as to bring better returns
for our shareholders and to maintain sufficient liquidity for the future
opportunities with fluctuation in stock markets and investing in listed
and unlisted investment with higher potentiality. In addition, the Group
would conduct further review on acquisition of the unlisted equity
investment from time to time in the future.

During the corresponding period, the trend of the stock markets
worldwide was similar and most of them had experienced a downtrend,
with serious drops in U.S. and Hong Kong equity markets, but China
experienced a slight uptrend.

The downtrend of the U.S. economy was mainly due to the effect of the
Russia—Ukraine War which resulted in the price increase of necessities,
rising interest rates by the U.S. Federal Reserve (the “Fed”), high
inflation as well as recession fears during the first half year of 2022. In
order to control the high inflation, the Fed raised interest rates 4 times
for a total of 2.75% from the second half of 2022. However, inflation
continued to reach a multi-decade high of 8.2% and therefore the Fed
had to announce that the rising-rate climate would stay until inflation
showed signs of coming down. Therefore, investors followed suit to
reduce their investment desire as they were feeling fears of economic
recession in the future. The Dow Jones Index decreased sharply by
approximately 17% from 34,678 at the end of March 2022 to 28,725 at
the end of September 2022. However, the U.S. economy was gradually
improving in October 2022 supported by good economic data, such
as the GDP of third quarter 2022 raised by 26% and the core inflation
only increased by 6.3% which was lower than expectations, and hence
the Dow Jones Index increased by approximately 19% from 28,660 in
October 2022 to 34,245 in February 2023. However, the negative impact
came from the interest rate hike again, 4 times for a total of 1.75%
since November 2022 and reached 4.65% in March 2023, together
with the banking crisis from the failures of Silicon Valley Bank (SVB)
and Signature Bank at the end of March 2023. As a result, it led to a
depressing economy in U.S. and European countries from February
2023 again and led the Dow Jones Index to drop by 2.8% from 34,245
in February to 33,274 at the end of March 2023. The Dow Jones
decreased approximately by 4% during this financial year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Meanwhile, the China stock market had experienced a slight uptrend
during the year. In the second quarter of 2022, the U.S. enforced the
Holding Foreign Companies Accountable Act (HFCAA) which may result
in having a large number of Chinese companies being delisted from
the U.S.. Together with the negative effect from interest rate hike in the
U.S., serious situation of resurgence in COVID-19 infections led to the
lockdown of some major cities, and the devaluation of RMB against USD
by approximately 12% during the third quarter 2022, all these negative
news created more uncertainty for the economy and affected investment
desire for investors. As a result, the Shanghai Composite Index
decreased slightly by approximately 7% from 3,252 at the end of March
2022 to 3,024 at the end of September 2022. However, the Chinese
Government announced a relaxation of banks’ reserve requirements by
reducing its required reserve ratio of 0.5% by two times and released
such liquidity into the financial markets, and together supported by the
good economic data like the Caixin China Manufacturing Purchasing
Managers Index(“PMI") at February 2023 reaching the record high at
52.6 since April 2012, and most importantly was the effect from the
border reopening between Hong Kong and China in January 2023. All
those positive effects affected investment desire for investors which
stimulated the economy and equity markets. As a result, the Shanghai
Composite Index increased by 8.2% from 3,024 in September 2022
to 3,272 at the end of March 2023. The Shanghai Composite Index
increased approximately by 0.6% during this financial year.

Hong Kong equity markets were sensitive to the news on the global
economic situations, especially the interest rate hike in the U.S. and
the border reopening between Hong Kong and China in January 2023
which stimulated the economics of Hong Kong. However, the U.S.
interest rate hike by 8 times for a total of 4.5% during this period would
increase the burden of investors and the continuous expectation of
indefinite increment of interest rate would reduce the investment desires
seriously. As a result, the HSI decreased by approximately 7.2% from
21,996 at the end of March 2022 to 20,400 at the end of March 2023.

PROSPECTS

We expect the global stock markets to be full of challenges in
the coming months, especially the Fed will increase interest rate
continuously until they can control the inflation rate around 2%. We can
extrapolate this pattern and anticipate a higher target rate in 2023 and
would tend to have a deleterious effect on stock markets. We expect
Hong Kong and worldwide equity markets may enter into a turbulent
market environment with a downward trend.

Due to these reasons, the Group will closely monitor the impact of the
interest rate hike in the U.S. and the outlook of the global as well as
Hong Kong equity markets. We may consider investing in more relatively
high yield listed securities and maintain sufficient liquidity for future
investment opportunities to enrich our investment portfolios. We will also
continue to adopt and maintain a cautious and pragmatic investment
approach in order to bring better returns for our shareholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INVESTMENT REVIEW

The Group hold lot of listed investment and one unlisted investment at
fair value as at the year ended 31 March 2023. The top ten listed equity
investment and the unlisted equity investment represented significant
portion in the net assets of the Group as at the year ended 31 March
2023 as below:

Listed securities investment

As at 31 March 2023
RZBZ=F=ZB=+-H

R-Z_=ZF=ZA=1—R0 FA&EERKERZL
MRAE SR —HEAFENFLTRARE -
TALIBRAESRF LTRER-F_=F5=
A=+—RIMEAEKBEREETHDEENLE
BERMT

ITRARFRE

As at 31 March 2022
W-Z--F#=ZA=1-H

Approximately Approximately
% of total % of total
Number of assets of the Number of assets of the
Name of investee companies share Fair Value Group Share Fair Value Group
hAEE hE%E
BEREY BEEL
RENAEHE ko &8 AY¥E BAL bt & ATHE BALL
HK$000 HK$'000
FEx FET
CK Hutchison Holdings Limited 50,000 2,435 2.69% 50,000 2,878 2.74%
(Stock Code: 0001)
RINZEZARDE (REHES : 0001)
PCCW Limited (Stock Code: 0008) 5,800,265 22,737 25.14% 5,800,265 25,637 24.45%
ERBMABRRA (REH : 0008)
MTR Corporation Limited (Stock Code: 0066) 183,775 6,956 7.69% 183,775 7,783 7.42%
EEEBRER LA (REHES - 0066)
China Construction Bank Corporation 520,000 2,647 2.93% 520,000 3,063 2.92%
(Stock Code: 0939)
mEEERITROBRA A (REER : 0939)
JBB Builders International Limited 4,644,000 1,951 2.16% 4,644,000 2,554 2.44%

(Stock Code: 1903)
JBB Builders International Limited
(Stock Code: 1903)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EEENWED T

As at 31 March 2023
R-ZE-=#=ZR=1—H

As at 31 March 2022
RZE--—F=ZA=1—H

Approximately Approximately
% of total % of total
Number of assets of the Number of assets of the
Name of investee companies share Fair Value Group share Fair Value Group
fAEE tr%ERE
BEE BEEY
REXREHR R4 EA NFE BAK aE G AYE Bl
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEn FET
Bank of Communications Co., Limited 700,000 3,458 3.82% 500,000 2,810 2.68%
(Stock Code: 3328)
RBRITBHERRF (REHFR - 3328)
Xinjiang Xinxin Mining Industry Co., Ltd. 1,600,000 2,208 2.44% 1,600,000 2,240 2.14%
(Stock Code: 3833)
MENERERNERA A (REE : 3833)
Bank of China Limited (Stock Code: 3988) 4,680,000 14,087 15.57% 4,600,000 14,490 13.82%
RERITRAER 2R (RERS - 3988)
Kwong Man Kee Group Limited 29,991,000 11,396 12.60% 29,991,000 11,696 11.15%
(Stock Code: 8023)
BYZEEERAR (REET - 8023)
Harbour Equine Holdings Limited 16,852,711 5,898 6.52% 16,852,711 8,342 7.95%
(Stock Code: 8377)
BEEFRRERRF(REHER - 8377)
73,773 81.56% 81,493 77.71%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

A brief description of the business, financial performance and prospect
of the Listed securities investment is as follows:

1. CK Hutchison Holdings Limited (“CKH Holdings”)
CKH Holdings is incorporated in Cayman lIslands and is
principally engaged in ports and related services, retail,
infrastructure, energy and telecommunication industries.

Pursuant to the annual report for the year ended 31 December
2022, CKH Holdings recorded revenue of approximately
HK$262,497 million, net assets of approximately HK$647,309
million and profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of
approximately HK$36,680 million which represented a 9.54%
increment comparing with last year. This project growth was
due to improvements in the Ports division, higher contribution
from Cenovus Energy, accretive contribution from the merger
of the Indonesia telecommunications as well as the steady
performance of the infrastructure business.

The group concurs that, CKH Holdings will continue to aim to
achieve growth in recurring earnings and increase shareholder
return while maintain a strong financial position and ensuring
disciplined execution of prudent financial, liquidity and cash
flow management. Therefore, the Group holds 50,000 shares
in CKH Holdings, representing 0.001% interest in the issued
share capital of CKH Holdings based on the annual report at 31
December 2022, and derived a dividend income of HK$134,000
for the year ended 31 March 2023.

2. PCCW Limited (“PCCW”)
PCCW is incorporated in Hong Kong and is principally
engaged in telecommunications, media, IT solutions, property
development and investment, and other business.

Pursuant to the report for the year ended 31 December 2022,
PCCW recorded revenue of approximately HK$36,065 million,
total comprehensive income of approximately HK$2,310 million
and net assets of approximately HK$12,765 million. PCCW
delivered solid results riding on the resilience of HKT Limited
(“HKT”) and achievement by the over-the-top (“OTT”) business
of its first full year of positive EBITDA.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group believes that, PCCW’s multifaceted offerings
spanning technology, media and telecommunications not only
equip them to withstand the ebb and flow of business cycles
and volatilities, but also form a unique ecosystem as an edge
to capture evolving opportunities such as digital economy,
smart city, Greater Bay area, etc. Therefore, the Group holds
5,800,265 shares in PCCW, representing 0.075% interest in
the issued share capital of PCCW based on the annual report
at 31 December 2022 and derived a dividend income of
HK$2,147,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023.

MTR Corporation Limited (“MTR”)

MTR is incorporated in Hong Kong and is principally engaged
in provision in the following businesses - railway design,
construction, operation, maintenance and investment in Hong
Kong, the Mainland of China and a number of major overseas
cities.

Pursuant to the annual report for the year ended 31 December,
2022, MTR recorded total revenue of approximately HK$47,812
million, net profit of approximately HK$9,827 million and net
assets of approximately HK$179,912 million. Total revenue
increased by 1.3%, mainly contributing by i) higher revenue from
Melbourne transport operations, and (ii) incremental revenue
for Hong Kong transport operations (“HKTO”) from the full year
operation of the full Tuen Ma Line and the opening of the East
Rail line cross-harbor extension in May, 2022.

The group believes that, MTR recurrent business would benefit
from the revitalizations of the travel, tourism and retail industries
when the world transits towards a more manageable endemic
era of COVID-19. Also, subject to market conditions, MTR
anticipate tendering out Oyster Bay property Development
Packages 1 and 2 and Tung Chung East station Package in the
coming months. Therefore, the Group holds 183,775 shares in
MTR, representing 0.003% interest in the issued share capital
of MTR based on the annual report at 31 December 2022 and
derived a dividend income of HK$263,000 for the year ended 31
March 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

China Construction Bank Corporation (“CCB”)

CCB is incorporated in the PRC and its major business segments
are corporate banking, personal banking, treasury business and
others including overseas business and subsidiaries.

Pursuant to the annual report for the year ended 31 December
2022, CCB recorded profit of approximately RMB323,166 million,
total comprehensive income of approximately RMB322,725
million and net assets of approximately RMB2,878,760 million.
CCB realised a profit attributable to the equity holders of
approximately RMB323,861 million, a year -on- year increase of
7.06%. Return on average total assets (“ROA”) was 1.00% and
return on average equity (“ROE") was 12.27%.

The group believes that CCB will pursue a transition to capital-
light, asset - light development and create new financial
products and service models, so that each round of New
Finance evolution will put a foundation under high —quality
development and the aspiration for a better life, and help make
the first year of Chinese modernization a luxuriant spring.
Therefore, the Group holds 520,000 shares in CCB, representing
0.0002% interest in the issued share capital of CCB, based on
the annual report at 31 December 2022 and derived a dividend
income of HK$197,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023.

JBB Builders International Limited (“JBBI”)

JBBI is incorporated in Cayman Islands. It is an investment
holding company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
the provision of marine construction services and building and
infrastructure services.

Pursuant to the interim report ended 31 December 2022,
JBBI recorded revenue of approximately RM118 million, total
comprehensive loss of approximately RM4.5 million and net
assets of approximately RM142 million. The substantial decrease
in revenue was primarily due to (i) the substantial decrease
in volume of sand transport from a marine transportation
contract in Singapore given that there are some preparation
and rearrangements of construction sites by customer and so
the delivery of marine sand is currently in slow pace during the
transition period; and (ii) decrease in demand of marine gas oil
due to the decrease of marine transportation works.

s
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group concurs that with the effective control of the
COVID-19 outbreak and recovery measures implemented by
the government, in particular the gradual re-opening policies
of Malaysia, JBBI's activities are resuming gradually and JBBI
believes the economy will be improved progressively. Therefore,
the Group holds 4,644,000 shares in JBBI, representing 0.93%
interest in the issued share capital of JBBI based on the interim
report ended 31 December 2022. No dividend was received
during the year.

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. (“Bank Com.”)
Bank Com. is incorporated in the PRC and is principally
engaged in provision of banking and related financial services.

Pursuant to the annual report for the year ended 31 December
2022, Bank Com. recorded profit of approximately RMB92,030
million, total comprehensive income of approximately
RMB92,864 million and net assets of approximately
RMB1,035,740 million. Bank Com. realised a profit attributable to
shareholders of approximately RMB92,149 million, an increase
of approximately 8.06% compared with prior year. Return on
average total assets (“ROA”) was 0.75% and return on average
equity (“ROE") was 10.33%.

The Group concurs that Bank Com., with the continuous
implementation of various policies, the order of domestic
production and livelihood is expected to accelerate the
restoration. The endogenous momentum of the economic growth
has been continuously accumulated and strengthened, and
the overall economy is expected to rebound. Therefore, the
Group holds 700,000 shares in Bank Com., representing 0.001%
interest in the issued share capital of Bank Com. based on the
annual report at 31 December 2022 and derived a dividend
income of HK$260,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Xinjiang Xinxin Mining Industry Co. Ltd (“Xinxin Mining”)
Xinxin Mining is incorporated in the PRC and is principally
engaged in the mining, ore processing, selling and refining of
nickel cathode products and other non-ferrous metals (namely
copper, cobalt, gold, silver, platinum and palladium).

Pursuant to the annual report for the year ended 31 December,
2022, Xinxin Mining recorded profit of approximately RMB743
million, total comprehensive income of approximately RMB743
million and net assets of approximately RMB5,689 million. For
2022, Xinxin Mining achieved a comprehensive profit attributable
to shareholders of approximately RMB744 million, as compared
to RMB515 million in 2021.

The Group concurs that for the year of 2023, Xinxin Mining will
strengthen its management, enhance Xinxin Mining’s overall
management level and operational efficiency, explore its
internal potential, ensure the balanced operation, stabilized
production and over-production for the full process of mining,
ore processing, smelting and refining of the Xinxin Mining and
maintain stability in the production level of main products -
nickel cathode and copper cathode. Therefore, the Group holds
1,600,000 shares in Xinxin Mining, representing 0.072% interest
in the issued share capital of Xinxin Mining based on the annual
report at 31 December 2022. No dividend was received during
the year.

Bank of China Limited (“BOC”)

BOC is incorporated in the PRC and is principally engaged in
provision a full range of corporate banking, personal banking,
treasury operations, investment banking, insurance and other
services to its customers in the Chinese mainland, Hong Kong,
Macau, Taiwan and other major international financial centres.

Pursuant to the annual report for the year ended 31 December
2022, BOC recorded profit of approximately RMB237,504 million,
total comprehensive income of approximately RMB248,662
million and net assets of RMB2,567,571 million. BOC realised a
profit attributable to equity holders of RMB227,439 million, a year
- on - year increase of 4.47%. Return on average total assets
("ROA”) was 0.85%, and return on average equity (“ROE”) was
10.81%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

10.

The Group concurs with BOC that amid a complex external
environment, BOC will comprehensively implement the decisions
and plans of the Central Economic Work Conference, make
solid efforts to drive the implementation of the 14" Five-Year
Plan, and support the high-quality development of both the
economy and society. United as one, all employees of BOC will
forge ahead with courage and determination to expedite the
building of a first-class global banking group. Therefore, the
Group holds 4,680,000 shares in BOC, representing 0.002%
interest in the issued share capital of BOC based on the annual
report at 31 December 2022 and derived a dividend income of
HK$1,065,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023.

Kwong Man Kee Group Limited (“KMK”)

KMK is incorporated in Cayman Islands and is principally
engaged in provision of engineering services in flooring,
screeding, anti-skid surfacing and concrete repairing.

Pursuant to the interim report ended 30 September 2022,
KMK recorded revenue of approximately HK$93 million, total
comprehensive income of approximately HK$15 million and net
assets of approximately HK$117 million. The revenue increased
by approximately 79.7%, comparing with last year’s same
period, mainly due to the increase in number of projects with
higher contract sum undertaken by KMK during the six months
ended 30 September 2022.

The Group concurs that, in order to continue to generate
promising returns and further diversity business risks, KMK
is taking an active approach in seeking alternative business
opportunities to broaden its source of income. Therefore, the
Group holds 29,991,000 shares in KMK, representing 5%
interest in the issued share capital of KMK based on the interim
report at 30 September 2022 and derived a dividend income of
HK$149,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023.

Harbour Equine Holdings Limited (“Harbour Equine”)
Harbour Equine is incorporated in Cayman Islands and is
principally engaged in the manufacture and selling of sewing
threads and board categories of garment accessories, provision
of interior design, interior decoration and furnishing services,
and provision of trading of bloodstock, stallion services
and equine handling services. The principal activities also
included securities, advising on corporate finance and assets
management by acquisition of subsidiary.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Pursuant to the annual report for the year ended 31 December
2022, Harbour Equine recorded revenue of approximately HK$76
million, total comprehensive loss of approximately HK$28 million
and net assets of approximately HK$68 million. Harbour Equine’s
net loss decreases to approximately HK$22.9 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022 from approximately HK$27.2 million
for the year ended 31 December 2021, representing a decrease
of approximately 15.9%. Such decrease is primarily due to the
one-off impairment loss of goodwill on the same period of the
preceding year which offset by the increase of the operating
expenses during the year.

The group believes that Harbour Equine would continue to
review the existing business from time to time with a view
to improving the business operation and financial position.
Therefore, the Group holds 16,852,711 shares in Harbour
Equine, representing 4.12% interest in the issued share capital
of Harbour Equine based on the annual report at 31 December
2022. No dividend was received during the year.

Unlisted equity investment

BEB®EABEEREE_T_-__F+-A8
ST -HUEZER #BEREHS
7 #976,000,000/8 7T - 2 HBEEELY
28,000,000% 7T & F & E 468,000,000
B oBEE_F+-A=1+—HIt
FEHAESNEBERIER _S=—F
+ZA=+—HI1EZ2F5HRK27,200,000
BT TIGE-_E-_—F+-A=+—H
b2 F #; #922,900,0008 7t © & IE 4 A
15.9% ° ZR P TERAREFRHAFE
B—REREBEBHAFELERIN
1 ANETIKSH o

AEERGEHEBERHFETHRBIA
EEREER UREREEEKLE
RBBHhnc Bt AREBREEEEE
516,852,711k - RE-_T ==

+TZA=+—HLZEREEBEFCDE
1T 2 4.12% » REE W BUER S o

FEmRARE
As at 31 March 2023 As at 31 March 2022
R-BZ=§Zh=1-H RZBZZFZR=1-A
Approximately Approximately
Proportion % of total  Proportion % of total
of shares assets of the of shares assets of the
Name of investee company  capital own Cost  Fair Value Group  capital own Cost  Fair Value Group
BEEE HREE
BEEL BEEY
RENTER Fris R 2t fl BA AYE BAL MR L A ATE A
HK$°000 HK$'000 (by Fair Value) HK$000 HK$000  (by Fair Value)
FiEn FEr  (RAFE) TET AT  (BRATE)
Guangzhou Jingyeng Aqua-
Culture Company Limited 1.60% 4,220 2,360 2.61% 1.60% 4,220 3,299 3.15%

BAMEFKERRARAR

Annual Report 2023 43§ 15



16

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

A brief description of the business, financial performance and
prospect of the unlisted securities investment is as follows:

Guangzhou Jingyeng Aqua-Culture Company Limited
(“Jingyeng Aquaculture”)
Jingyeng Aquaculture is incorporated in PRC and is
principally engaged in business of aquaculture and feed
production during the year.

Pursuant to the annual report for the year ended 31
December 2022, Jingyeng Aquaculture recorded net
profit of approximately RMBO0.85 million and net assets of
approximately RMB221 million. Jingyeng Aquaculture’s
net profit margin for the year was about 0.48%.

The Group believes that there will be steady growth in
aquaculture and feed production business in China and
it is beneficial to Jingyeng Aquaculture. Therefore, the
Group holds 1.6% interest in the issued share capital of
Jingyeng Aquaculture. No dividend was derived during
the year. The net assets attributable to the Group was
approximately HK$4,022,000 (2022: HK$$4,366,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EEENWEDN

In addition, the net realised and unrealised gain/(loss) on RN HERZ_ZEZ_=F=A
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss for the —+—BHE RATFERE
year ended 31 March 2023 amounted to approximately REIEVHBEEEZERE
HK$13.4 million was mainly due to the listed and unlisted AEBWR/(FE)ZFEHA
investment and the relevant breakdown are as follows: 13,400,000/8 7L * TER A £H
MR AR 55 I 3F T RN 5 ] A

TREEARMA :

Realised Unrealised

BER RER
Disposal cost/ Net realised
Disposal carrying amount and unrealised
Name of investee companies consideration ~ of investment  Net gain/(loss)  Net gain/(loss) gain/(loss)
BERRAZR
HERE Wi/ k&/ b8/ (58
RENAEW HERE  HA/REE (BR) 28 (B8)#E BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$:000
AT AL TEL TEL TET

Listed investment

Power Assets Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 0006) 783 (896) (113) (54) (167)
EREEXARDA (REHR - 0006)

PCCW Limited (Stock Code: 0008) - L E (2,900) (2,900)
ENRNARAA (REES : 0008)

MTR Corporation Limited (Stock Code: 0066) - - - (827) (827)
FREBRERAA (REET : 0066)

China Construction Bank Corporation
(Stock Code: 0939) 6,033 (6,186) (153) (72) (225)
RERRRTROBRAE (REER : 0939)

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
(Stock Code: 1398) 3,787 (3,594) 193 - 193
FRIARARGERLR (REES : 1398)

Ausupreme International Holdings Limited

(Stock Code: 2031) 2,651 (2,553) % (72) %
REBEBERERAT (REFHR : 2031)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EEENWED T

Realised Unrealised
B 2] RER
Disposal cost/ Net realised
Disposal ~carrying amount and unrealised
Name of investee companies consideration  of investment  Net gain/(loss)  Net gain/(loss) gain/(loss)
BERRAZR
HERE Wi/ ks/ W&/ (58
RENAEW HERE  AA/BREE (B8) 8 (B8)#8 EH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET AT AT FET TET
Listed investment (continued)
ITRAEFRE (&
Bank of China Limited (Stock Code: 3988) 7,620 (8,190) (570) (413) (983)
RERTRAFRAA (RRER - 3088)
Gemilang International Limited
(Stock Code: 6163) - - - (1,917) (1,917)
ZIRARERAA (REET:  6163)
Harbour Equine Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 8377) - - - (2,444) (2,444)
ERERERERAR (REHR < 8377)
Others - - - (3,200) (3,200)
-4
(545) (11,899) (12,444)
Unlisted investment
FrmRAEFRE
Guangzhou Jingyeng Aqua-Culture
Company Limited - - - (939) (939)
BMmeHkERBRARAA
Total (545) (12,838) (13,383)
@t
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had bank balances and cash of
approximately HK$4,323,000 (2022: HK$3,950,000). The Board
believes that the Group has sufficient financial resources to satisfy its
commitments and working capital requirements.

As at 31 March 2023, none of listed equity securities of the Group had
been pledged to secure margin facilities and loans granted by a related
company.

Gearing ratio
Gearing ratio had not been presented (2022: HK$ nil) as there was no
debt as at 31 March 2023 (2022: HK$ nil).

Dividend
The Board has resolved not to recommend any payment of final
dividend.

Capital structure
There was no change to the Group’s capital structure for the year ended
31 March 2023.

Capital commitment and contingent liabilities
As at 31 March 2023, the Group had no material capital commitment
and contingent liabilities.

Material Acquisition and Disposal
During the Year, the Group had not made any material acquisition or
disposal of subsidiaries and associates.

Exposure to foreign currency fluctuation and related hedges

The Board believes that the foreign exchange risk is minimal as
the Group mainly uses Hong Kong dollars to carry out its business
transactions. Therefore, there was no material foreign exchange
exposure to the Group.

Employment and remuneration policies

As at 31 March 2023, the Group employed a total of 4 full-time
employees (2022: 4), including the executive directors of the Group.
Employees’ remuneration are fixed and determined with reference to the
market rate.

Share options
The Company does not have share option scheme.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Annual General Meeting (the “AGM”) will be convened on
Wednesday, 23 August 2023. The notice of AGM will be published on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange and sent to the
shareholders of the Company and together with the Company’s 2023
Annual Report in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR AGM

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company is scheduled
to be held on Wednesday, 23 August 2023 (the “AGM”). The register of
members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 18 August 2023 to
Wednesday, 23 August 2023, both days inclusive, during which period
no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to determine the identity
of the shareholders who are entitled to attend and vote at the annual
general meeting, all duly completed transfer forms accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong
Kong branch share registrar, Tricor Standard Limited at 17th Floor, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30
p.m. on Thursday, 17 August 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company complied with the code provisions as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules (the “CG Code”) throughout the year ended 31 March 2023,
except under the code provision C.1.6, independent non-executive
directors and other non-executive directors should attend general
meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views of
shareholders. The independent non-executive director, Mr. KWOK Ming
Fai was unable to attend the annual general meeting (“AGM”) on 22
August 2022 due to his other business engagements. This constitutes
a deviation from code provision C.1.6 of the CG Code. Moreover,
non attendance of this Independent Non-executive Director may also
constitute deviation from code provision F.2.2 of the CG Code. Despite
of that independent non-executive director, all the other directors of the
Company were present in the AGM.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Code Provision B.2.2

Under the code provision B.2.2, directors should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. None of the
independent non-executive directors of the Company was appointed
for a specific term. None of the non-executive directors has entered
or proposed to enter into any service contracts with the Company or
its subsidiaries. But all directors of the Company are subject to the
retirement by rotation according to the provisions under article 168
of the Articles of Association of the Company. As such, the Board
considers that sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that the
Company’s corporate governance practices are no less exacting than
those in the CG Code.

APPRECIATION

The Board would like to take this opportunity to extend our sincere
thanks and express appreciation to those who have supported us
during the year.

By order of the Board

WONG Yun Kuen
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 20 June 2023
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Dr. WONG Yun Kuen (“Dr. Wong”), aged 65, is an executive director
of the Company. He has been elected as Chairman of the Board on 30
April 2015. He received a Ph.D. Degree from Harvard University, and
was “Distinguished Visiting Scholar” at Wharton School of the University
of Pennsylvania. Dr. Wong has worked in financial industries in the
United States and Hong Kong for many years, and has considerable
experience in corporate finance, investment and derivative products.
He is a member of the Hong Kong Securities Institute. Dr. Wong is an
independent non-executive director of Kaisun Energy Group Limited
(Stock Code: 8203). Dr. Wong was chairman and executive director
of Far East Holdings International Limited (Stock Code: 36) (July 2017
to December 2020), the independent non-executive director of DeTai
New Energy Group Limited (Stock Code: 559) (July 2009 to December
2020), Synergis Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 2340) (December 2017
to December 2020) and China Graphene Group Limited (Stock Code:
63) (June 2020 to December 2020). All are listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. He was also independent non-executive director of GT
Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 263) (September 2004 to October
2022), the shares of which was delisted with effect from 31 October
2022. Save as disclosed above, Dr. Wong does not hold directorship
in other public companies the securities of which are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the past three years.

Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew (“Mr. Cheng”), aged 50, is an executive
director, member of the remuneration committee and member of the
nomination committee of the Company. He holds a bachelor’s degree
from the California State University, USA. He has over 20 years
experience in securities, corporate finance and direct investment. He is
also an executive director of Upbest Group Limited (Stock Code: 335).
Save as disclosed above, Mr. Cheng does not hold directorship in other
public companies the securities of which are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the past three years.

UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BBRREBR AR

0

EEGARENR

EBHEEL (EBL)) 655 AEAARBTE
E-EHITN-_T-AFENA=TRERRAR
REEECERF - WEZHRHABHLIEM
I ¥ FEEE & EE A ZWharton School [ 4
HEFEE] ZRLHEEEAREBSRATLE
ZEHPERE  RENTEERIBLEL
BoBNRBEAESFZEgE - 5B T AYER
BEBARAT (BRGHOMRSE : 8203) 2B IEH
TEE -BEEIH-_T—+E+AZE-E-F

Tt AHARREREBEERAF (RHAR :
36) EEMATESE H-_TTZNFLAE=Z
—EFT - ARAERTEREEAERAR (K
AR5 :659) RIE—LFT_HEZTZ
TE+-AHAFBERER AR (BROHASR:
2340) R ZE-BFRNAE-ZT-FTF+=A
BEPEGEAER (RHNRE:63)  WEHER
BB ET EET TR _FTTNFNAZZ
T _FTAGEAREEEERAERAR (K
5% 263) ZBIUFMITES - HRMHARIE
R —FTAZTBHEREBR BRI -
BREXHWEEIN  BEBRTAEBEZF WEER
BEAREINEFMBLTHOEMBARAR - EE

WERMAE (BERE]D 505 - AARANTE
£ FHEESZBNRRZECZE - KA
EEMMMNIABZ BB - JRNES - bF
BENEERERBE_THFER - RRAKAX
EEEARRA (RMNFIK : 335) ZHMITES -
FREXBREEI  BLEEEBE=F UWEREN
BERIBIIEFME LWANEMARAR - T



PROFILE OF DIRECTORS

Mr. CHAU Wai Hing (“Mr. CHAU”), aged 57, an executive director
of the Company. Mr. CHAU possesses over 30 years of experience in
banking, finance and wealth management and held executive positions
at several international financial institutions and listed companies
(including as an executive director of the Company from 2008 to 2015).
He graduated from City University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor’s
Degree in Quantitative Analysis for Business, Postgraduate Certificate in
Professional Accounting and Master Degree in Finance. He also holds
a Master Degree in Professional Accounting from the Southern Cross
University in Australia. Mr. Chau is a fellow member of the Institute
of Public Accountants in Australia, a fellow member of the Institute of
Financial Accountants, a chartered member of the Chartered Institute
for Securities and Investment and a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Securities and Investment Institute. Mr. Chau was previously a licensed
person to carry out type 1 (dealing in securities), type 4 (advising on
securities) and type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFQ”). Mr. Chau is also an independent non-executive
director of Carnival Group International Holdings Limited (In Liquidation)
(stock code: 996) since May 2019, a company incorporated in the
Bermuda with limited liability and is principally engaged in the theme-
based leisure and consumption business and was ordered to be wound
up by the High Court of Hong Kong on 23 August 2022. He was an
independent non-executive director of Vestate Group Holdings Limited
(Stock code: 1386) (February 2017 to March 2021). Save as disclosed
above, Mr. CHAU does not hold directorship in other public companies
the securities of which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong
or overseas in the past three year.
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Dr. FUNG Lewis Hung (“Dr. Fung”), aged 62, is an independent
non-executive director and a member of the audit committee, the
remuneration committee and the nomination committee of the Company.
He has been the honorary medical adviser of the Institute of Securities
Dealers Limited since 2000 and the Hong Kong Chamber of Small &
Medium Business Limited since 1997. Dr. Fung is an affiliated fellow
of the Royal Australian College of Physicians and the foundation fellow
of Hong Kong Academy of Medicine. In addition, he is a member of
the International Society of Nephrology and Hong Kong Society of
Nephrology. He also holds a master’s degree in business administration
from the Newport University in the United States. Save as disclosed
above, Dr. Fung does not hold directorship in other public companies
the securities of which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong
or overseas in the past three years.

Mr. TANG Hon Bui, Ronald (“Mr. Tang”), aged 64, is an independent
non-executive director and a member of the audit committee, the
remuneration committee and the nomination committee of the Company.
Mr. Tang received his legal education from the University of Hong
Kong and has been a barrister in private practice since 1981. Save as
disclosed above, Mr. Tang has not held any directorship in other public
companies the securities of which are listed on any securities market in
Hong Kong or overseas in the past three years.

Mr. KWOK Ming Fai (“Mr. Kwok”), aged 58, an independent non-
executive Director and has been elected as Chairman of the audit
committee, remuneration committee and the nomination committee of
the Company on 1 April 2022. Mr. Kwok possesses over 20 years of
experience in banking, finance and accounting and held executive
positions at several international financial institutions, accounting
firm and listed companies. Mr. Kwok obtained a Bachelor Degree in
Accounting & Financial Management & Economics from the University
of Sheffield in the United Kingdom and a Master Degree in Business
Administration from the University of Adelaide in Australia. He is a
member of CPA Australia and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He is also a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England & Wales. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Kwok
has not held any directorship in other public companies the securities of
which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in
the past three years.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The board of directors (the “Board”) of UBA Investments Limited (the
“Company”) has pleasure in presenting their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are investment holding companies.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business and the outlook of the Company and a
discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during the year
and the material factors underlying its results and financial position are
provided in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” from pages 4 to 21
of this annual report. These discussion form part of this director’s report.

Description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company
can be found throughout this annual report particularly in note 7 on the
consolidated financial statements.

Environmental policies and performance are discussed in the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” from pages 55 to 67 of
this annual report.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
The Group’s turnover and contribution to operating results were all
derived from investment in listed and unlisted securities in Hong Kong.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements during the year in the property, plant
and equipment are set out in note 17 on the consolidated financial
statements.

SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31 March 2023 are set out in
note 27 on the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTION
The Company does not have share option scheme.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Company’s board
of directors with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance and the results of the Group. In addition, the Directors’
remuneration is reviewed by the Remuneration Committee annually.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 74 respectively.

The Board has resolved not to recommend a payment of final dividend.
SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the
year are set out in note 22 on the consolidated financial statements.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY BB ME
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group U T AANEBERBERAENKEE y £EREE
for the last five financial years is set out below. This summary is not part HEEBEZHE - W BV IELEZRE S M BEREK
of the audited consolidated financial statements. Z a8 o
RESULTS
E4
1/4/2022 - 1/4/2021 - 1/4/2020 -  1/4/2019 - 1/4/2018 -
31/3/2023  31/3/2022  31/3/2021 31/3/2020  31/3/2019
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Loss before taxation BrEiAI B8 (14,433) (129) (8,889) (45,004) (24,436)
Taxation B - - 191 489 1,154
Net loss attributable RAREBAER
to owners of the Company a8 % E (14,433) (129) (8,698) (44,515) (23,282)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
SEEHEE
31/3/2023  31/3/2022  31/3/2021 31/3/2020  31/3/2019
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Total assets BEHSE 90,449 104,875 105,033 113,933 158,933
Total liabilities BEHE (325) (318) (347) (549) (1,034)
Net assets BEFE 90,124 104,557 104,686 113,384 157,899

UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BABER EHIR A F
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RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in consolidated statement of changes in equity and note
26 on the consolidated financial statements respectively.

The Company’s reserves available for distribution represent the share
premium, contributed surplus and retained profits under the Companies
Law of the Cayman lIslands. The share premium of the Company is
available for paying dividends to shareholders subject to the provisions
of its Memorandum and Articles of Association and provided that
immediately following the distribution of dividend the Company is able
to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. In
accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, dividends can
be distributed out of the share premium, contributed surplus and retained
profits of the Company which in aggregate amounted to approximately
HK$73,426,000 (2022: HK$85,978,000) as at 31 March 2023.

REPURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries repurchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities during the year.

INVESTMENT POLICIES

The Company has adopted investment objectives, investment policies
and investment restrictions which have not been changed since its
listing in 2000 in the Stock Exchange and summaries are as below:

Investment objectives and policies

The Company is an investment company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with the primary objective of achieving medium term capital
appreciation by investing in listed and unlisted companies in Hong
Kong and the PRC. The Company also intends to invest in unlisted
companies with the potential to seek a listing on the Stock Exchange or
any overseas stock exchanges.

The Company has adopted the following investment policies:

o Investment will normally be made in the form of equity or equity-
related securities and debt instruments in listed and unlisted
companies engaged in industries including (but not limited to)
the information technology, telecommunications, manufacturing,
service, property and infrastructure sectors to maintain a
balance in the Company’s exposure to different industry sectors
in order to minimize the impact on the Company of any downturn
in any particular sector;
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J The Company will seek to identify entities with a record of
profit growth, strong management, high levels of technical
expertise and research and development capabilities as well
as management commitment to the long term growth. However,
the Company is flexible in considering investment in companies
or other entities which are considered by the Board and the
Investment Manager as being special or in recovery situations;

J Where possible, the Board and the investment manager would
seek to identify investment where there is a certain degree of
synergy with other investee companies and where co-operation
between such companies would be of mutual benefit to each
other; and

J The Company'’s investment are intended to be held for medium
term capital growth. There is no present intention to realise any
of such investment in any specific period or by any specific
date. Nevertheless, the directors of the Company (the “Director”)
will from time to time realise investment where they believe the
realisation would be in the best interests of the Company or
where the terms on which such realisation can be achieved are
believed by the Directors to be particularly favourable to the
Company.

Investment restrictions

Under the Articles and the Listing Rules relating to the listing of
investment companies, certain restrictions on investment are imposed
on the Company. In part to meet such restrictions, the Board has
resolved that the Company may not:

1 either itself or through its wholly-owned subsidiaries or in
conjunction with any connected person take legal, or effective,
management control of underlying investment and in no event,
will the Company itself or through its wholly-owned subsidiaries
own or control more than 30%, (or such lower percentage as
may from time to time be specified in the Takeover Code as
being the level for triggering a mandatory general offer) of the
voting rights in any one company or body;

2 invest in any company or entity other than wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company if such investment will result in
more than 20% of the net asset value being invested in such
company or entity as at the date the investment is made;
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3. buy or sell commodities, commodity contracts or precious
metals, except that it may purchase and sell futures contracts on
stock indices and securities which are secured by commodities
or precious metals; and

4. invest more than 50% of its assets outside Hong Kong and
the PRC to the extent of contravening its primary objective of
achieving medium term capital appreciation by investing in
listed and unlisted companies in Hong Kong and the PRC.

The Company has to comply with investment restrictions 1 and 2 above
at all times while it remains listed as an investment company under
Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules.

Investment restrictions 3 and 4 cannot be changed for at least 3 years
from the date of the prospectus without the approval of the shareholders
of the Company by way of an ordinary resolution. The Board has no
present intention to change any of the above-mentioned investment
restrictions.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Dr. WONG Yun Kuen (Chairman)
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew
Mr. CHAU Wai Hing

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. FUNG Lewis Hung

Mr. TANG Hon Bui, Ronald

Mr. KWOK Ming Fai
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In accordance with Article 168 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew and Mr. TANG Hon Bui, Ronald shall
retire by rotation from office and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election. All other directors continue in office.

The term of office of each of the independent non-executive directors
lasts until his retirement by rotation in accordance with the Company’s
Articles of Association.

At the Annual General Meeting, ordinary resolutions will be proposed
to re-elect Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew as executive director and
Mr. TANG Hon Bui, Ronald as independent non-executive director.

The Company received confirmation of independence in respect of the
year ended 31 March 2023 from each of the independent non-executive
directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Up to and as at the
date of this report, the Company still considers the independent non-
executive directors to be independent.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Company’s operations are mainly carried out in Hong Kong and
accordingly shall comply with material relevant laws and regulations
in Hong Kong. During the year and up to the date of this report,
the Company has complied with all the material relevant laws and
regulations in Hong Kong.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association of the Company provides that every director
shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which they may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of the duties of their office otherwise in relation
thereto. In addition, the Company has maintained appropriate directors
and officers liability insurance in respect of relevant legal actions
against the directors of the Company.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to building an eco-friendly corporation that
tries to reduce the impacts of its operation on the environment, and to
ensure our compliance of prevailing environmental protection laws and
regulations. For details, please refer to the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” contained in this annual report.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIES

As the Group principally engages in investment in listed and unlisted
securities, no specific customers or suppliers will be involved in the
operation of business. The investee companies and the investment
manager are good working partners creating value for the Group. The
Group also values the knowledge and skills of its employees, and
continues to provide favourable career development opportunities for its
employees.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

In the opinion of the Board, there were no contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which any director of the Company had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)) which were notified to the Company
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “SEHK”) pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which the Directors and the chief executive of the Company
were deemed or taken to have under such provisions of the SFQ) or
which were required to be and were recorded in the register required to
be kept pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the SEHK pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model Code”) in
the Listing Rules were as follows:

Number of shares

EEEWE

EERTHAANE L AREMBE AR 2
R HERORES 2EER AR

RZBZ=ZF=ZA=1—RH ARAEERAL
A R EREAE (ER R ESF R HE R SEXVE
([EHEBMERG))) 2Bt - HERD REF
RHRAREBES LB ERAEXVEETRESD
HEANGARAREBHERZAARRAF (TH
R 2R ROAR (BRREEF R AE HD
ZHRERXEIRAEERESTRAEREAR
WEERAZRARAR)  HAIATMEIIA
REF NG GAFEBEFEZELMA - K
BRELTRAZ EMRARESETERLHZIF
7R ([BESTA) AMEARARA RB R 2
BERXRIMT :

ROBE
Percentage
of issued
Personal Family Corporate Other share capital
Name of director interests interests interests interests Total 2R TIRAR
EEns BAER REER EEE S HitiE s RmE Bott
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
in the Company
AAREREMBEOIBITZEBR
CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew (Note) - - 340,000,000 - 340,000,000 26.74%
BiEtm (Hi)
Note: Wit -

Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew is one of the discretionary objects of a trust which
assets include interests in the entire issued share capital of Fung Fai Growth
Limited. Fung Fai Growth Limited holds 340,000,000 shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year ended 31 March
2023 was the Company, its subsidiaries or its associate a party to
any arrangement to enable the directors or chief executives of the
Company, or their spouses or children under the age of 18, to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or its associated corporation.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief executives
of the Company had or was deemed to have any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Companies contained in the Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 March 2023, the following persons or corporations, other than
the interest disclosed above in respect of the Directors, interest in 5%
or more in the shares and underlying shares of the Company have been
notified to the Company and recorded in the register of substantial
shareholders’ interests in shares and short positions required to be kept
under Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO:

EEEWE

BREXHEESI  RARARABEZHTIBITHAR
TERARASEBREZE(ERRESFLEE
{EBIFEXVERD) 2 Bty - BRI kB A
HERR MABLTRREEFLHAEGHE
B2GMEAFEZELMA - FJARE EHARA
8 LT AR ESETERIHHORETRIEA
EARDB MR 2 EAERERIAR

FTERRNRADE 2RO K EERG < E
K%'

R-FB-ZF=ZA=1—0 REARARES
BERE G OIEXVER 336155 E MR E 2 L EMR
REZDARBCMALEMBET UTALRD
A(GLERBEERESMBZRAN FAR
ARBEBTEARBEKRNDED 2 AR L2

A L L
g

Approximate
percentage of

Number the total number
Name of shareholders of shares held of shares in issued
fRER A HE FrElREHE NEERITROVBEDL
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the Company
AATEBREMEIEB T ZEBER
Fung Fai Growth Limited (Note (a)) 340,000,000 26.74%
Fung Fai Growth Limited (#/3%(a))
Kingswell Holdings Group Limited (Note (b)) 192,000,000 15.10%
Kingswell Holdings Group Limited (#77#(b))
Notes: Kt -
(a) The entire issued share capital of Fung Fai Growth Limited is owned  (a) Fung Fai Growth Limitedz & #E & 17M& A&

by a trust. Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew and his family members are
the beneficiaries of the trust which assets include interests in the entire
issued share capital of Fung Fai Growth Limited.

(b) The entire issued share capital of Kingswell Holdings Group Limited is
beneficially owned by Mr. LEONG Chi Wai.

DEHE-EEARA BEREBEERERAR
ErtzXm A MAE®EFung Fai Growth
Limited T B #ITIRA -

(b) Kingswell Holdings Group LimitedZ 2%
BIRATDBERLABEEERES o
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, the Directors are not
aware of any other persons who have interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares of equity derivatives or debentures of the
Company or any associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) which would be required to be disclosed to the Company
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Significant related party transactions entered by the Group during the
year ended 31 March 2023 which also constitute continuing connected
transactions under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), are
disclosed in note 25 on the consolidated financial statements.

The investment manager of the Company is regarded as a continuing
connected person of the Company under Chapter 21 of the Listing
Rules. Accordingly, the investment management agreement constitutes
a connected transaction of the Company. The management fee during
the year amounted to approximately HK$1,414,000.

As disclosed in more details under the Company’s announcement and
circular dated 26 January 2022 and 4 April 2022 respectively. The
Group entered into certain conditional agreements with the Upbest
Group Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Upbest Group”), which would
constitute continuing connected transactions (the “CCT") on the part
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025. The CCT are subject
to approvals by the independent shareholders of the Company. The
relevant resolutions of the Company approving the CCT have been
passed at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
29 April 2022. Save for disclosed above, certain details of which are
disclosed in compliance with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive directors have reviewed the connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions in note 25 on
the consolidated financial statements and have confirmed that the
connected transactions and continuing connected transactions have
been entered into:

i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

ii) on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable
to the Group than terms available to or from (as appropriate)
independent third parties; and

iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on

terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BBRREBR AR
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The auditors of the Company have reviewed the continuing connected
transactions during the year as set out in note 25 on the consolidated
financial statements and confirmed that these transactions:

i) were approved by the Board;

i) where applicable, were in accordance with the pricing policies
of the Company;

iii) had been entered into in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing the transactions; and

iv) had not exceeded the caps stated in the relevant
announcement.

CONFIRMATION FOR CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
A letter pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules has been issued
to the Board by the auditors of the Company confirming the matters
stated in Rule 14A.56 in respect of the above continuing connected
transactions for management agreement.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Details of significant management contracts in relation to the Company’s
business are included in note 25 on the consolidated financial
statements.

Save as disclosed above, no other contracts concerning the management
and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of
the Company were entered into or existed during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders under the Company’'s Memorandum and Articles of
Association and the Companies Laws of the Cayman Islands.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee according to “A
Guide for The Formation of an Audit Committee” published by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The primary duties of
the audit committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting
process and internal control system of the Group. The Audit Committee
had also reviewed the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2023 in conjunction with the Company’s external auditors.

The audit committee of the Group consists of 3 independent non-
executive directors, namely Dr. FUNG Lewis Hung, Mr. TANG Hon Bui,
Ronald and Mr. KWOK Ming Fai.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied throughout the year ended 31 March
2023 with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices set out in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange, except that independent non-executive directors of
the Company were not appointed for a specific term but are subject
to retirement by rotation according to the Articles of Association of the
Company. As such, the Company considers that sufficient measures
have been taken to ensure that the Company’s corporate governance
practices are no less exacting than those in the CG Code.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules. Upon enquiry by the Company, all Directors of
the Company have confirmed that they have complied with the required
standards set out in the Model Code throughout the period.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Board, the percentage of the
Company'’s shares which are in the hands of the public exceeds 25% of
the Company’s total number of issued shares.

AUDITORS
The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021 was audited
by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022 and 2023
were audited by Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited (“Asian Alliance”).
Asian Alliance shall hold office until the conclusion of the next annual
general meeting of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other changes in auditors of the
Company in any of the preceding three years.

Asian Alliance will retire and a resolution for their reappointment as

auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

WONG Yun Kuen
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 20 June 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Sound corporate governance practices are crucial to the smooth,
effective and transparent operation of a company and its ability to
attract investment, protect rights of shareholders and stakeholders,
and enhance shareholder value. The Company is committed to high
standards of corporate governance with a view to being transparent,
open and accountable to our shareholders.

This report describes the Company’s corporate governance practices
and structures that were in place during the financial year ended 31
March 2023, with specific reference to the principles and guidelines
of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) issued by The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). In developing and
reviewing its corporate governance policies and practices, the
Company has sought to adopt a balanced approach.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company complied with the code provisions as set out in the Code
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules throughout year ended
31 March 2023, except under the code provision C.1.6, independent
non-executive directors and other non-executive directors should
attend general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of
the views of shareholders. The independent non-executive director,
Mr. KWOK Ming Fai was unable to attend the annual general meeting
("AGM”) on 22 August 2022 due to his other business engagements.
This constitutes a deviation from code provision C.1.6 of the CG Code.
Moreover, non attendance of this Independent Non-executive Director
may also constitute deviation from code provision F.2.2 of the CG
Code. Despite of that independent non-executive director, all the other
directors of the Company were present in the AGM.

Code Provision B.2.2

Under the code provision B.2.2, directors should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. None of the
independent non-executive directors of the Company were appointed
for a specific term. None of the non-executive directors has entered
or proposed to enter into any service contracts with the Company or
its subsidiaries. But all directors of the Company are subject to the
retirement by rotation according to the provisions under article 168
of the Articles of Association of the Company. As such, the Board
considers that sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that the
Company’s corporate governance practices are no less exacting than
those in the CG Code.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

With the assistance of the Compliance Department, the Board has
designed a proper corporate governance structure. Currently, there
are three board committees, including Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee. Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee perform their distinct roles in
accordance with their respective terms of reference.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

As at 31 March 2023, the Board of Directors of the Company comprises
six members. Dr. WONG Yun Kuen, acts as Chairman of the Board,
whereas Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew acts as Managing Director of
the Company. Other executive director is Mr. CHAU Wai Hing. The
Company has three independent non-executive directors, they are Dr.
FUNG Lewis Hung, Mr. TANG Hon Bui, Ronald and Mr. KWOK Ming
Fai. Mr. KWOK Ming Fai has appropriate professional accounting
experience and expertise.

All directors have distinguished themselves in their field of expertise,
and have exhibited high standards of personal and professional ethics
and integrity. The biographical details of each director are disclosed in
page 22 to page 24 of this Annual Report.

Each independent non-executive director has pursuant to the Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules, confirmed that he is independent of the Company
and the Company also considers that they are independent.

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities
transaction by the directors (the “Model Code”). Having made specific
enquiry of all directors, the Company confirmed that all directors have
complied with the required standards as set out in the Model Code
during the year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material relationship) among members of the Board.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, the directors
shall hold office subject to retirement by rotation at the annual general
meeting of the Company at least once every three years and eligible for
re-election.

Function

The Board of Directors, headed by the Chairman, is responsible for
formulation and approval of the Group’s development and business
strategies and policies, approval of annual budgets and business
plans, recommendation of dividend, and supervision of management
in accordance with the rules governing the meeting of the Board
of Directors, the Managing Director’s working guides, articles of
association and rules governing the meeting of shareholders.

The executive directors are responsible for day-to-day management
of the Company’s operations. These executive directors conduct
regular meetings with the senior management of the Company and its
subsidiaries and associated companies, at which operational issues
and financial performance are evaluated.

The Company considers well-developed and timely reporting systems
and internal controls are essential, and the Board of Directors plays a key
role in the implementation and monitoring of internal financial controls.

The Board of Directors has established procedure to enable directors,
upon reasonable request, to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

The Articles of Association of the Company contain description of
responsibilities and operation procedures of the Board of Directors. The
Board of Directors holds regular meeting and listens to the operating
reports of the Company and makes policies. Significant operating
policies of the Company have to be discussed and passed by the Board
of Directors. Board meetings include regular meetings and irregular
meetings. The Board of Directors meets formally at least 4 times a year.

Besides regular and irregular meetings, the Board of Directors obtains
adequate information through working meetings, presided by the
Chairman in a timely manner, to monitor objectives and strategies of the
management, financial conditions and operating results of the Company
and provisions of significant agreements.

>
M
il
i)8
_ﬁmH.
ofF

EXENBCHAY T FEEMBER (BREE
X% ZBIEMERZBERE) °

BEAABZABERAR EREZARIE
“ERRRBEFARE LHESTR K IHEE
BB REE

Bige

ESEmIREE  ARRBHEEFESR
RA BEFREETHES  ARSRARR
BERRAGZRAUTE LM ERSE 2 R NF
TR RO - StEBFRENERE
BE  UREEEEE -

e

BB -HITESR
REZERERE
BERBRE -

HWITEEEEARRIBE
HARNR REWB AR R
Eﬁﬂ;ﬁiﬁ 2% LA

N

A& %§

ARBERRBERRARER 2 BRI E R ARE
ﬁﬁ$%ﬁ'ﬁ§$@ﬁaﬂﬁﬁﬁ HR 75
ERTANEEEZAR -

EERDUARS BEFRABER  TEE
EZERTERETELER  BRAALAX
-

AN ERASAETEREEFERF
2 -EFEEHMBTEE  BRRARRZE
ERE  XHEBEK - ARBZEREEBRA
REZENWIBEE EFXCCREHRENSE

EAEHER EFEEFARELORIAE
% °
BREBRATHERN  ESCNERBHERE

BERZTFERMGRAER  LEEEEE
BRRRE ALBMBRALELEE AR
BREHZHEX -

Annual Report 2023 43



40

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

For the financial year ended 31 March 2023, the Board of Directors held
12 regular executive Board meetings at approximately monthly interval
and 6 irregular Board meetings which were convened when deemed
necessary. Due notice and Board papers were given to all directors
prior to the meeting in accordance with the Company’s Articles of
Association and the Code. Details of individual attendance of directors
are set out below:

Executive Board Meeting
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PREF -SEFZHEFBHIWOT :

Irregular Board Meeting

HiTESEE TEHEZER
Attendance/ Attendance/
Total Meetings Held Total Meetings Held
HERY eRL8H HERY, EEAY
Name of directors EERE
Executive Directors BTES
Dr. WONG Yun Kuen HEEET 12/12 8/8
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew BRmLE 1212 8/8
Mr. CHAU Wai Hing ARELE 12112 8/8
Independent Non-executive Directors BIkHTES
Dr. FUNG Lewis Hung BRI B N/A T 8/8
Mr. TANG Hon Bui, Ronald HERLAE N/A R 8/8
Mr. KWOK Ming Fai FEBEE N/A N E R 7/8
Chairman and Managing Director TEREFHLE

The roles of the Chairman and the Managing Director are segregated
and assumed by two separate individuals who have no relationship with
each other to strike a balance of power and authority so that the job
responsibilities are not concentrated on any one individual.

The Chairman of the Board is responsible for the leadership and
effective running of the Board. The Chairman is also responsible for
deciding the agenda of each Board meeting, taking into account, where
appropriate, matters proposed by other directors for inclusion in the
agenda.

The Managing Director is delegated with the authorities to manage the

Group’s business in all aspects effectively, implement major strategies,
make day-to-day decision and coordinate overall business operation.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The number of independent non-executive directors is half of the Board
membership. The Board membership is covered by professionally
qualified and widely experienced personnel so as to bring in valuable
contribution and different professional advices and consultancy for the
development of the Company.

Responsibilities

In the course of discharging their duties, the directors act in good faith,
with due diligence and care, and in the best interests of the Company
and its shareholders. Their responsibilities include:

- Regular board meetings focusing on business strategy, operational
issues and financial performance.

- Active participation on the boards of subsidiaries.

- Approval of annual budgets for each operating company covering
strategy, financial and business performance, key risks and
opportunities.

- Monitoring the quality, timeliness, relevance and reliability of
internal and external reporting.

- Reviewing of the compliance with the CG Code.

- Reviewing of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company through the Audit Committee.

- Monitoring and managing potential conflicts of interest of
management, Board members and shareholders, including misuse
of corporate assets and abuse in related party transaction.

- Ensuring processes are in place to maintain the overall integrity of
the Company, including financial statements, and relationship with
other stakeholders, and compliance with all laws and ethics.

To enable the Company’s directors to meet their obligations, an
appropriate organizational structure is in place with clearly defined
responsibilities and limits of authority.

Board Committees

A number of Board Committees, including Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee, have been
established by the Board of Directors to strengthen its functions and
to enhance its expertise. These committees have been formed with
specific written terms of reference which is available on the Company’s
website set out details of the Committee’s duties, powers and functions.
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Audit Committee

The Company’s Audit Committee is composed of three independent
non-executive directors, namely Dr. FUNG Lewis Hung, Mr. TANG Hon
Bui, Ronald and Mr. KWOK Ming Fai. It is chaired by Mr. KWOK Ming
Fai during this period. It reports directly to the Board of Directors and
reviews matters within the scope of audit, such as financial statements
and internal controls, to protect the interests of the Company’s
shareholders.

The Audit Committee meets regularly with the Company’s external
auditors to discuss audit process and accounting issues, and reviews
effectiveness of internal controls and risk evaluation. Written terms
of reference, which describes the authority and duties of the Audit
Committee are regularly reviewed and updated by the Board.

Set out below is the summary of work done during the year:

to review the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2022 and for the six months ended 30 September 2022;

- to review effectiveness of the internal control, financial controls

and risk management system;

- to review the internal audit function;

- toreview the continuing connected transactions and annual caps;

- to review auditors’ statutory audit plan and letters of representation;
and

to consider and approve 2022 audit fees and audit work.

The Audit Committee held 6 meetings during the year. Details of
individual attendance of its members are set out in the table below:
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Attendance/Total meetings Held

HERY, EEEE
Name of directors EEME
Independent Non-executive Directors BYEHITES
Dr. FUNG Lewis Hung SR B 6/6
Mr. TANG Hon Bui, Ronald BEEEE 6/6
Mr. KWOK Ming Fai MEAE k& 6/6

UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BBRREBR AR



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Remuneration Committee

The Board has established a Remuneration Committee comprising one
executive director, Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew and three independent
non-executive directors, Dr. FUNG Lewis Hung, Mr. TANG Hon Bui,
Ronald and Mr. KWOK Ming Fai. It is chaired by Mr. KWOK Ming Fai
during this period.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee have been
reviewed with reference to the Corporate Governance Code.

The Remuneration Committee’s responsibilities are to review and
consider Company’s policy for remuneration of directors and senior
management, to determine remuneration packages of executive
directors and senior management including benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments, and to recommend to the Board of
Directors remuneration of independent non-executive directors.

Set out below is the summary of work of the Remuneration Committee
done during the year:

- toreview the remuneration policy for 2022/2023;

- to review the remuneration of the executive directors and the

independent non-executive directors; and

-  toreview the annual share option policy (if any).

The Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting during the year. Details of
individual attendance of its members are set out in the table below:
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HERY, EREH

Name of directors EEpg

Executive Director HITES

Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew HEmEE 11
Independent Non-executive Directors BYEHITES

Dr. FUNG Lewis Hung IR i 1 2 11

Mr. TANG Hon Bui, Ronald BEREE 11

Mr. KWOK Ming Fai BEAE K & 1/1
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Nomination Committee

The Board has established a nomination committee on 21 March 2012
comprising one executive director, Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew and
three independent non-executive directors, Dr. FUNG Lewis Hung, Mr.
TANG Hon Bui, Ronald and Mr. KWOK Ming Fai. It is chaired by Mr.
KWOK Ming Fai during this period.

The terms of reference of the nomination committee, which is available
on the Company’s website, set out details of the Committee’s duties,
powers and functions, nomination procedures and the process and
criteria adopted for selection and recommendation of candidates for
directorship of the Company, summary of which is set out below:

review the structure, size and diversity (including without limitation,
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service)
of the Board at least annually; and make recommendations to
the Board regarding any proposed changes to implement the
Company'’s corporate strategy;

identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships;

assess the independence of independent non-executive director;

review the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate, and review the
measurable objectives that the Board has set for implementing
the Board Diversity Policy, and the progress on achieving the
objectives;

develop, maintain and review a policy for the nomination of
Directors, as appropriate. This includes the nomination procedures
and process and criteria to select and recommend candidates for
directorship set out in the policy;

regularly review the time required from a Director to perform his
responsibilities; and

make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating
to the appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession
planning for directors, in particular the chairman and the chief
executive officer, taking into account the Company’s corporate
strategy and the mix of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity
needed in the future;
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The Nomination Committee held 1 meeting during the year. Details of
individual attendance of its members are set out in the table below:
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Attendance/Total meetings Held

HERY SREH

Name of directors EEHR

Executive Director HTESE

Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew BEMmEE 11
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES

Dr. FUNG Lewis Hung 5 R 1 B 1/1

Mr. TANG Hon Bui, Ronald BESLE 1/1

Mr. KWOK Ming Fai MEARE K &£ 11

Board Diversity Policy

The Company adopted a Board Diversity Policy (the “Diversity Policy”)
which became effective in September 2013. This Diversity Policy aims
to set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Company’s Board of
Directors, through the consideration of a number of factors in the Board
members’ selection process, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments are
based on merits, and have paid due regard for the benefits of diversity
on the Board in selecting candidates.

As at the date of this annual report, all Board members are males, the
Company has reviewed the structure and composition of the Board
of the Company and aims to implement gender diversity plans and
arrangements for the Board as soon as possible, and will appoint
one female as a board member on or before 31 December 2024.
The Company believes that a gender diverse Board will provide
diversity and further contribution to the business of the Company. The
details of the gender diversity of our company (including employees
and the members of the Board) are set out in the section B headed
“Employment” of the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on
page 64 of this report.
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Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee shall nominate suitable candidates to the
Board for it to consider to appoint as director to fill casual vacancies
and consider of directors to be re-appointed at an annual general
meeting.

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the Nomination
Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate.

a.  Reputation for integrity;

b. Accomplishment and experience in the investment industry, in
particular, in assets management, regulated license person and
related investment experience;

c. Commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest;

d. Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age (18 years or above), cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive
and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the discretion to nominate
any person, as it considers appropriate.

Proposed candidates will be asked to submit the necessary personal
information in a prescribed form, together with their written consent to
be appointed as a director and to the public disclosure of their personal
data on any documents or the relevant websites for the purpose of or in
relation to their standing for election as a director.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS
To ensure Directors’ contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant, the Company encourages Directors to participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills and understanding of the business and markets
in which the Group operates. Directors are also provided with monthly
performance and position updates of the Group, and information such
as performance and key operational highlights to enable the Board as a
whole as well as each Director to discharge their duties. During the year
ended 31 March 2023, all directors have participated in appropriate
continuous professional development and provided the Company with
their records of training. A summary of training records provided by the
Directors is as follows:
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Attending trainings and Seminars, Reading
articles, newspapers, journal and updates
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Name of directors ESpg
Executive Directors ITEE

Dr. WONG Yun Kuen HEEEL

Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew UEmELLE

Mr. CHAU Wai Hing FE#EEE
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Dr. FUNG Lewis Hung BIRIER £

Mr. TANG Hon Bui, Ronald HERELE

Mr. KWOK Ming Fai SEBLE
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS
The Board as a whole is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties including:

(a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices in
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and directors;

(e) to review the Company’'s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report; and

(f) to review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company.

External Auditors

During the year and as at the end of the reporting period at 31 March
2023, the remuneration payable and paid to the Group’s existing
auditors Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited, are set out as follows:
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Services rendered for the Group Fees paid Fees payable
mAEER A2 R ERNZER Rt zER
HK$000 HK$'000

F#ET FHET

Audit services FiR® 210 230
Non-audit services FEFTIRH - =
Total At 210 230
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

It is the responsibility of the Board to ensure that the Company
maintains sound and effective risk management and internal control
systems to safeguard the Shareholders’ investment and the Group's
assets at all times. The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling
its corporate governance roles in the Group’s financial, operational,
compliance, risk management and internal controls, and the resourcing
of the finance and internal audit functions.

The Board has established an on-going process for identifying,
evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the Group and
this process includes updating the system of internal controls when
there are changes to business environment or regulatory guidelines.

The Board is of the view that the system of internal controls in place
for the year under review and up to the date of issuance of the annual
report and consolidated financial statements is sound and is sufficient
to safeguard the interests of shareholders and employees, and the
Group’s assets.

The investment manager assists the Board in the implementation of the
board’s policies and procedures on risk and control by identifying and
assessing the risks faced, and involving in the design, operation and
monitoring of suitable internal controls to mitigate and control these risks.

The key processes that have been established in reviewing the
adequacy and integrity of the system of internal controls include the
following:

- The Executive Board is responsible to ensure the effectiveness of
the daily operations and that the operations are in accordance with
the corporate objectives and strategies.

- The Audit Committee of the Company reviews internal control
issues identified by external auditors, regulatory authorities and
management, and evaluates the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

Policies and procedures have been designed for safeguarding
assets against unauthorised use or disposition; maintenance of
proper accounting records for the use of reliable information within
the business or external publication, and compliance of relevant
regulations, rules and legislations. The policies and procedures are
designed for providing reasonable but not absolute assurance to avoid
fraud, material misstatements or errors.
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INTERNAL AUDIT

An independent CPA has been engaged to perform the internal audit
function of the Group. The scope of internal audit will be determined at
the start of each year. As part of the ongoing review of the systems, the
internal audit reviews and assesses the Group’s internal control and risk
management systems, makes recommendation and reports to the Audit
Committee and the Board once a year.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. LEUNG Man Lai was appointed as the Company Secretary of the
Company on 30 July 2012. The Company Secretary reports to the
Directors of the Company and is responsible for advising the Board on
governance matters. According to the Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules,
the Company Secretary has taken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the year.

DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Board ensures the inside information is kept strictly confidential
until the relevant announcement is made. The Directors are not aware
of any significant areas which need to be brought to the attention of the
Shareholders.

Dividend Policy

The Company may declare and distribute dividends to the shareholders,
provided that the Group records a profit after tax and that the
declaration and distribution of dividends does not affect the normal
operations of the Group.

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount the Board shall take into account, inter alia:

(i)  the general financial condition of the Group;

(i) capital and debt level of the Group;

(iii) future cash requirements and availability for business operations,
business strategies and future development needs;

(iv) the general market conditions; and

(v) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by
the Group’s lenders; and any other factors that the Board deems
appropriate.

The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any

restrictions under the Company Law of the Cayman Islands and Articles
of Association of the Company.
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Finance

The Company’s assets were used in an appropriate manner, the
expenditures in each of the operating units of the Group were under a
strict control, expenditures exceeding certain predetermined amounts
needed management’s authorisation. Accounting records were properly
maintained. The allocation of resources and manpower in performing
accounting and financial reporting function are adequate to comply with
the requirement of Listing Rules.

Operation

A hierarchical system with proper work flow and reporting procedures
was duly established in each of the operating units. Every employee
was assigned with a specific area of duty and responsibility.

Regular meetings with the attendance of senior management and
representatives from each of the operating units were held during the
year so as to improve communication and identify potential issues within
the Group.

LISTING RULES COMPLIANCE

During the year, the continuing connected transactions undertaken by
the Group are included in the transactions set out in note 25 on the
consolidated financial statements. The Group has fully complied with
the Listing Rules requirements. Financial Reports, announcements and
circulars have been prepared and published in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules. The prevailing internal control system
are compliant with all the requirements of the Listing Rules.

GOING CONCERN

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the
Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS COMMUNICATION

The objective of shareholder communication is to provide our
shareholders with detailed information about the Company so that they
can exercise their rights as shareholders in an informed manner.

The Company uses a range of communication tools to ensure its
shareholders are kept well informed of key business imperatives.
These include annual general meeting, annual report, various notices,
announcements and circulars. All resolutions put forward at a
shareholders meeting will be taken by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules
and the poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company and
of the Stock Exchange after the shareholders meeting.
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An annual general meeting (“AGM”) held on 22 August 2022, the
Chairman of the Board and the representative of external auditors were
available to answer questions at the meeting. The chairman of the
meeting had explained the procedures of conducting a poll during the
meeting. All resolutions were proposed by the Chairman at the meeting
and voted separately by way of poll. All the votes cast at the said
meeting were properly counted and recorded.

Attendance of individual Directors at AGM during the year:
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Attendance/AGM
HERE
BRRAFKE
Name of directors EEME
Executive Directors BITES
Dr. WONG Yun Kuen BEEEL 11
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew B EfmLE 11
Mr. CHAU Wai Hing B 5 A 11
Independent Non-executive Directors BAFHTES
Dr. FUNG Lewis Hung SRR 11
Mr. TANG Hon Bui, Ronald HERxsE 11
Mr. KWOK Ming Fai MBEAE K & 0/1

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company will be held on
23 August 2023 which will be conducted by way of poll.

UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BBRREBR AR

ARAEERRBFASEN_Z_=FN\A
“T=RET BEURESAETRR -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SHAREHOLDER’S RIGHT

Way to Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 94 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
general meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition of
any two or more members of the Company deposited at the principal
office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company
ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office specifying
the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided
that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which
carries the rights of voting at general meetings of the Company. General
meetings may also be convened on the written requisition of any one
member of the Company which is a recognised clearing house (or its
nominee) deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong
Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal
office, the registered office specifying the objects of the meeting and
signed by the requisitionist, provided that such requisitionist held as at
the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company which carries the rights of voting at general
meetings of the Company.

As regards proposing a person for election as a director, details and
procedures are available on the website of the Company.

Members’ Enquiries

Members should direct their questions about their shareholdings to the
Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong. Members may at any time
make a request for the Company’s information to the extent that such
information is publicly available. Members may also make enquiries to
the following contact details of the Company:

Address: Flat B, 16th Floor, Wah Kit Commercial Centre,
300 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong
Telephone: 852 3575 9396

Constitutional Documents
There was no change in the memorandum and articles of association of
the Company during the year.

The updated memorandum and articles of association of the Company
is available on the Company’s website.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Procedures and Sufficient Contact Details for Putting Forward
Proposals at Members’ Meetings

Members are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to the operations,
strategy and/or management of the Group to be discussed at members’
meeting. Proposal shall be sent to the Board or the Company Secretary
by written requisition. Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the
Company, members who wish to put forward a proposal should convene
an extraordinary general meeting by the procedures set out in “Way to
Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting” above.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN PREPARING THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. The Statement of the Auditors
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 68
to 73.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BACKGROUND

UBA Investments Limited (the “Company”) is an investment company
and principally engages in investment in a diversified portfolio of listed
and unlisted companies. As an investment company, the Company
does not directly participate in the production and operation of its
subsidiaries. While actively seeking to optimise its investment portfolio
and maximise shareholder return, the Company lives up to its corporate
social responsibility and strikes a balance between the interests of
stakeholders such as the shareholders and the community, with the
ultimate goal of achieving a sustainable corporation.

In accordance with the requirements of Appendix 27 to the Listing
Rules, the Company hereby presents its environmental, social and
governance (“ESG") report (“ESG report”) for the reporting period
from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023. This ESG Report sets out the ESG
obligation, ESG governance structure, performance and initiatives of
the Group. In particular, the Key Performance Indicators (“KPI”) of
environmental and social aspect disclosed in the ESG Report covers our
operating office in Hong Kong.

This ESG report summarises the ESG policies in addressing the material
ESG issues, as well as the compliance with laws and regulations
relevant to those issues, of the Company based on the reporting
principles including of “materiality”, “quantitative”, “balance” and
“consistency”.
Materiality: ~ Relatively crucial and significant ESG issues are shown in
the ESG Report.

Quantitative: KPls are disclosed in a measurable manner with
sufficient description on the changes.

Balance: The ESG report is prepared under an impartial manner.

Consistency: The ESG report is presented in consistent manner over
time.

THE ESG APPROACH

The Company believes that a sound ESG structure is important for
the sustainability and continued development of the Company. The
Company is willing to take more responsibilities for the society and
strike a balance between the shareholders’ interests and the society’s
benefits.

We will continue to strengthen our efforts in information collection
for better performance in the ESG and broader disclosure of related
information in sustainable development. We welcome any comments
and suggestions on this report as well as the Company’s performance in
sustainability development.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board is the highest decision-making body for the ESG
management of the Company. The Board formulates and reviews the
Company’s ESG vision, objectives, strategies and targets to ensure
that they are set in accordance with the Company’s strategic goals and
vision as well as the latest ESG trends and issues that may affect the
Company’s operations. The summary of governance structure are as
follow:

Wi HEREARS

RERE

EZQNARARE HENEREEZESA
KRB - EZSHRLRAARDFNRE  HE
LERRER B8  REMERZ BRTEEA
MBI A ENBER AR ATEZERAREEN
BHRR HERELABEMEE - AR EREM
EJUNNE

Role Functions and duties

AR B RE AR B

The Board - Oversees the relevant ESG-related issues;
Exg - EBRS HekEREBEE

- Reviews and provides strategic advice to the ESG working group
- BERRARE HeRELIFEMMEEHEBER

- Reviews ESG-related goals and targets.

- BERE HeRELHEBBERRKER

ESG working Group =

RE Mg kERIENE ESG strategies

Assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibility for the Group’s

- WHEEERTRUARERSE HeRELRRBNEBEERE

- Engages with stakeholders and to solicit their feedback on the Group’s
ESG risks and opportunities;

- HENELDY UBARSHAKERE HekEnRERREENRE

- Reports to the Board on the implementation status of ESG initiatives

- RE

SHEEHERE - HEREABRENRITRER

= Collates ESG key performance indicator data
- EBERE HERELRMREREEEE

- Facilitates the implementation of ESG policies
- REZHRERE HEREBREE

- Prepares ESG Report

- WERE - HEREARE

The Company’'s ESG management work is led by the Board and is
responsible for steering the ESG’s overall direction and oversee the
running of our ESG system. The ESG working group is responsible for
implementing ESG policies and measures.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

The stakeholders of the Company refer to groups and individuals who
have significant impact on the Company’s business, or those who are
affected by the Company’s business. The participation of stakeholders
is an important part of the business management of the Company for it
to examine potential risks and business opportunities. Communications
with stakeholders enable the Company to better understand their views
and to bring business practices closer to their needs and expectations,
so as to properly manage the views of different stakeholders, and the
key stakeholders include investors, employees, suppliers, government
and regulators and community. The table below sets out the concerned
matter of different stakeholders during the reporting period.

Stakeholders Main Concerns in ESG
BiHEA TERB HEREARBISE
Investors - Corporate governance
REE - {XER
- Business strategies, performance
and investment returns
- EBRE RBERRELDR
- Sustainability of our investment
and operations
- RERZENAREZERE
- Competence and quality of the
management
- EBRENRONEER
- Anti-corruption
= RES
- Community Investment
- HEERE
Employees - Development and Training
BT - BERREI
- Health and safety
- RBREREZE
- Remuneration and benefits
- HEREF
- Anti-corruption
- REAS
- Working environment
- IERE

RE - HERERBE

ERA2H
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Main Communication channels

TEEERE

- Annual general meetings and other
shareholders meetings

- BRRBFRERHEBRRAE

- Annual and interim reports

- FEBRERTHREG

- Announcements for investors

- RREENENRE

- Company website

NGEEYS

= Continuous education and
professional trainings

= SEHE REEE

- Annual appraisal

- FEFK

- Attention to occupational health
and safety

- BIBEREREZZ

- Performance management

- RBHER

- Regular meetings

- fle
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT R - HEREB®SE

Stakeholders Main Concerns in ESG Main Communication channels
& A TERR HERERBIEE TEBBRRE
Suppliers Punctual fulfillment of agreements - Supplier selection with due care
HED - REBETHH - BlEKkEMARER
- Integrity and probity - Contractual obligations are in
- WEKEE place
- Product/service quality - HMANBE
- EmkBEES - Direct communication our
- Company's core value and its concerns to suppliers
public image - ERHEHEREARMOBEE
- REANRLEERAELRER
Government and regulator - Compliance with laws and - Correspondence
BRREEHKE regulations N L
- BTERER - Regulatory filings
- Anti-corruption - EENHEE
- REA - Websites of Government and
regulatory bodies
- BRREE#BEEIL
Community - Community Investment - Charity donations
HE - HERE - RERE
- Environmental protection - Sponsorships
- RER#E - By
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Materiality Assessment

The Company has evaluated the materiality of ESG issues to the Group
of which 9 major issues of them have been identified. The Company
has sought stakeholders to score each sustainability issue according to
their views towards the importance to the Company and to stakeholders
respectively. Materiality matrix graph has been prepared based on the
scores given by the stakeholders as follows:

Anti-corruption R &5

Community investment 4+ [& 1% &

Compliance of labour standard & # &% TIZ#& 1

Compliance with laws and regulations 1 SF3& %R

Employees development and training 1& 8 2 & } %3

Employees remuneration and benefits /& & ¥ Bl & 12 7

Health and safety fEFEEHZ 2

Sustainability of our investments and operations 1% & & 418 & A] #5483 &

Use of Resource &R {E

We believe the most pertinent sustainability issues include competence
and quality of the management, corporate governance, sustainability of
our investment and operations, development and training, occupational
health and safety, compliance with local laws and regulations, healthy
market development, use of resource and Community Investment.
We shall continue to collect stakeholders’ opinions, and take into
consideration the valuable suggestions and advice to proactively
implement our policies on environmental protection and social care to
foster sustainable development.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Targets and Goals
In order to enhance the accountability and effectiveness of ESG
management, the Company set some key targets and goals as follows:

Relevant Stakeholders Targets and goals for the Year

RE - dHEBRERRS

BEEREN
ATRERR HehEAEENBEERER
M ARRBRIATEENEEZKER:

Impact on material topic

MHEARER A FEERREREN BEXZENEE
Investors - Consider the ESG-related risk in the - Sustainability of our investment
REE investment decision making process and operations
- EREARBEPEZERRE MHERE - RERLENIHEN
egiEl N
Employees - Provide more training to employee - Development and training
BT - REEFZEEE - BERRE
- Provide and maintain a healthy and - Health and safety
safety working environment - RBEERZ2

- RURERFREEZ2TERE

Environmental =
BRI paper
- BOBERAMR

Reduce the usage of electricity and

Sustainability of Investment

The Group understands that the increasing trend of demand for the
ESG investing for the investors. As an ongoing commitment to good
corporation, the Group recognizes the responsibility in minimizing the
negative environmental and social impact of our business operations
and our investment portfolio, in order to bring long-term sustainable
value to our investors and shareholders. ESG analysis is an integral
part of the Group’s investment process. The Group will consider all
environmental and social criteria when making investment decisions and
will invest in investment which have an adequate level of governance
quality and mitigate environmental and will not invest in any investment
which may violate environmental law. The Group also concurs
investment in those ESG compliance investment may improve Group
reputation and bring long-term sustainable value to our investors and
shareholders.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT R3E - HEREB®/SE

A. ENVIRONMENTAL A IR

Emissions, Use of Resources, Environment and Natural
Resources and Climate Change

The Group operates in the investment field and it's operation is
mainly office-based and the Group is committed to minimising
the impact of businesses on the environment through adopting
eco-friendly measures at the office. In addition, there is no
actual business facing climate change directly. However,
climate change is seriously all over the world, and the extreme
weather is affecting the Global in recent years. The Company
believes that climate change will affect worldwide and we should
put effort to reduce waste at sources and to promote energy
efficiency.

The Group encourages employees to implement the following
environmental initiatives to prevent the adverse climate change:

= to reduce paper consumption by using duplex printing,
reusing papers printed on one side and place for paper

waste recycling;

- to use electronic storage and communication wherever

By BRER BERBRERRR
Rk
AEEBRREEHEEW AR REEE
RE-Bit AEEBNBBHLE
MERRER BERPAFAHRENY
Z - 5 ARARERTEFZERRIE
BEMER - A AFERIIRE(RR
TENEN - BRRBEEAEFERIR - AR
ARARGELETERIR HMES
NIERER D RED A 1R = AL TR RE o

AR E B E T A TIRIRE A D
I SRS B ¢

- RMLRE - ZRAEEIED &E
AERERTHNRRIREN]
77 B RE AR

- ETTNERTHNETH R

possible; FERRETEA
2 to set air-conditioning temperature at 25 degree in = REZHRBERARERE B2
summer whenever possible to energy saving; EP N

- to switch off lights and air-conditioning in the meeting
room and the computer at the workstation when not in

- REATETEAERZRBN
ERREH - AT B

use; and TR
= to arrange Conference calls instead of face-to-face = BT EZEEMIIEEMYRE
meetings where possible. TeHo

Furthermore, climate-related issues such as risk of extreme
weather is increasing which may affect significantly of the
operation of the Company and may danger to the safety of the
employee. Also the change of regulatory regarding to the climate
related issue may also lead to devaluation of the company
investment which include energy related investment. Therefore,
the Company will consider climate related issue before making
our investment decision in order to mitigate potential impacts to
the Company and shareholders.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

In view of the business nature, the Group’s operations do not
directly involve the use of natural resources as the Group
does not involve in any industrial process nor use any motor
vehicles. Hence there had been no direct emission relation to air
pollutants and greenhouse gases (“GHG"), no discharges into
water and land (Scope 1 as below table). The main emissions
and wastes produced by the Group are primarily attributable to
its use of electricity and paper (Scope 2 and 3 as below table).
Also the Group is not aware of any significant generation of
hazardous waste and any non-compliance with relevant laws
and regulations in relation to environmental protection during
the Reporting period that have significant impact on the Group.
The Company also believes that its business operations have
minimal direct impact on the environment.

Environmental performance

The Group believed that the environmental protection as
an important component to form a part of our corporate
responsibility and are therefore committed to promoting
environmental protection activities.

In accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide set out by the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange, our environmental performance of
“Emissions”and "Use of Resource” during the reporting period
are tabulated as below.

Use of Resource

B

HERERRE

ENEBUE AEEEBLTEREY
FEAREBERNERERERES LR
THEREHEREAEEER - Bt
REBVETFNEAETTSEYREER
BIRERB)ABENERIN  TE
KRR L HE5 (FHIRBAGEET) - M
HIZHRRELANBHIEZREHEE
REOEN A (THRBABE2R3) -
FIARAFEER  REEY FTAERE
EEMABRRENRI THAEEKRE
BTARBRRERENEBEO RAH -
H%K%Iﬁﬁéﬁ%% ENYNCID) B!
CHEBEEURRENNERTYER
B o

BRER
AEERRRERENAEILEEEN
B2HS RUEBIEHIRNEERRE
@’ o

RETEHRAARENRE HERE
RG] BEHARFINOTEER] R
[BRERINRRRAMTERAR

ERFEHR

2023 2022
Resource type Total Consumption ~ Consumption per person Total Consumption Consumption per person
ERER “HE AfE BEE ANIRE
Electricity Yl 14,589 kWh THRE 3,647 kWh TRE 16591 kWh THE 4148 KWh  THRE
Paper Eis 8 kg 2OF 2 kg AF B KR AT D0
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Greenhouse Gas Emission

RE - HERERBE

BRERBHK
2023 2022

Greenhouse gas indicators Major sources CO, emitted Emitted per person C0, emitted Emitted per person
BEREED IERR SR ZE{LRER A3ER
Scope 1 HE1 Ni i - - =
Direct emissions ERHH
Scope 2 HIE? Blecticity &7 11526 kg AF 2881 kg AF 13107 kg AR 3217 kg A
Energy indirect emissions B R &N
Scope 3 HE3 Paper  # B kg AF fr B kg AF 95 kg AF
Other indirect emissions ~ E o H M
Total CO, emission B8R

equivalents HnEe 1564 kg DF 28905 kg DF 13145 kg AT 32865 kg AT
Electricity AE

The electricity consumed by the Group was mainly used in the
office during its normal business operation and supplied by
The Hong Kong Electric Co., Ltd. During the Year, the Group
consumed 14,589 kWh (2022: 16,591 kWh) of electricity with a
monthly average usage of 1,216 kWh (2022: 1,383 kWh) and
3,647 kWh (2022: 4,148 kWh) per person, which producing
CO, equivalent emissions of approximately 11,526 kg (2022
13,107 kg). These consumption of the electricity was mainly
attributable by the use of light, office appliances and air-
conditioning in the office.

Water

There is no direct water supply to the office apart from water
uses/affluent discharges at shared facilities of the office
building. Water consumption by the Group for the year involved
mainly bottled drinking water uses at its offices premises and
the Group’s business operations do not require any other water
usage. The Group’s office utilised a total of approximately 24
bottles of drinking water with total of 454 Liter, an average 2
bottles drinking water per month during the year 2023 and 2022.
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4148 F BLE) - EE ZE(LIE EH R
11526 A (ZE=Z=F : 13,1072
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MAEBRRRRA
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Paper

The Company encourages employees to reduce paper
consumption by using duplex printing, reusing papers printed
on one side and place for paper waste recycling, also using
electronic storage and communication wherever possible.
During the year 2023 and 2022, the Group used a total of
approximately 8 kg of paper in its normal office operations for
printing documents and the total CO, equivalent emissions for
the paper used was approximately 38 kg.

SOCIAL

Employment

Employees are the most valuable asset to the Group. It is the
policy of the Group to employ person which is suitable to the
position with equal opportunity (non-discrimination against
gender, marital status, disability, age, race, family status, sexual
orientation, nationality and religion). Competitive remuneration
package will be provided for the employees. The Group is in
full compliance with relevant employment laws and regulation
just like the “Employment Ordinance” (Chapter 57), “Minimum
Wage Ordinance” (Chapter 608), “Sex Discrimination Ordinance”
(Chapter 480), “Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance”
(Chapter 485), “Disability Discrimination Ordinance” (Chapter
487) and “Race Discrimination Ordinance” (Chapter 602), etc.
The Group is not aware of any non-compliance in relation to
employment laws and regulations during the Reporting Period.

As at 31 March 2023, we have 4 full time employees (including
3 executive directors) and 3 independent non-executive
directors (31 March 2022: 4 full time employees (including 3
executive directors) and 4 independent non-executive directors)
of the Company. All of our employees (including executive
directors) and independent non-executive directors are senior
management and located in Hong Kong. No turnover of
employees during this period other than 1 independent non-
executive director resigned with effective from 1 April 2022.
By gender, 100% male. By age group, 29% and 71% (2022:
37% and 63%) between age group of 35 to 55 and over 55
respectively. In addition, the Company will continue to promote
diversity in all aspects of the Company (including gender
diversity of the Board).

Health and Safety

The Group will provide a healthy and safety working environment
to the employees. The Group has provided a guideline for
work safety including environmental hygiene and cleanliness,
machine operation, smoking ban and fire prevention, hazardous
materials handling, arrangements in times of typhoons and
rainstorms, as well as response to emergencies, etc. By offering
opportunities for a flexible work arrangement, the Group also
encourage our employees to maintain a healthy work-life
balance.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group is in full compliance with the “Occupational Safety
and Health Ordinance” (Chapter 509), and is not aware of any
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations in relation
to health and safety working environment during the Reporting
Period that have significant impact on the Group. During the
period, there was no staff suffer work-related fatalities and injury.

The outbreak of the COVID-19 was continuing since early
2020 which has brought about additional uncertainties for
our employees’ health. The Group has purchased additional
cleaning and epidemic prevention equipment and consumables
such as surgical face masks, sanitizer etc. The Group has
implemented the precautionary measures to prevent and control
the spread of the COVID-19 at the working place, including
compulsory body temperature checks, mandatory wearing of a
surgical face mask, limit the visitors to access our office.

Development and Training

On-the-job training and continuous professional development
are important elements to enhance the industry knowledge
of the employees of the Group. The Group provides relevant
training opportunities to its employees from time to time and
encourages employees to attend seminars by themselves for
their own professional assertions which include Listing Rules
and accountancy update which can boost the competence
and efficiency of the employees and hence the Company’s
professionalism and performance. During the period, all the
employees and senior management including directors had
participated in training and the average number of the hours
spent on training per staff is around 34 hours.

Labour standards

It is the policy of the Group to comply with the relevant laws and
regulations which prohibit the employment of child and force
labour.

We strictly check the age of job candidate and in case of
holding forged identification documents or providing false
personal data will report to relevant regulatory authority.

The Group is not aware of any non-compliance with relevant
rules and regulations on preventing child or forced labour during
the Reporting Period.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Supply Chain Management

As the Group operates in the investment field, which is office
based, it does not rely on any major suppliers for its business
operation in general. The Group mainly purchases office
equipment and office supplies through approved suppliers
according to their reputation, the quality of goods and services
provided. The Group will select on a competitive basis and take
into account factors like their reputation, price, integrity and
competence for other suppliers just like external professional
service provider. The quality of their service is closely monitored
to ensure that the service provided is in accordance with
agreed contractual terms. In addition to the increasing concern
of the ESG, the Company will also select suppliers with highly
promotion of the environmentally preferable products or services
by searching their publicly disclosed information and relevant
news regarding to ESG. The Group believe the environmental
social risks of our supply chain are properly managed and are
kept to minimal.

The Group has maintained good practice to select and evaluate
its suppliers and their engagements. During the period, there are
2 major office supplies suppliers and 6 major external service
providers. All the suppliers were located in Hong Kong.

Product responsibility

The Group does not have products or services provided to
customers and hence the product responsibility is not applicable
to the Group.

Anti-corruption and Anti-Money Laundering

The Group is committed to ensuring that no bribes, payment,
advantages and money laundering are solicited from or given or
offered to any persons, whether in the public or private sector,
for any purpose, which can ensure the strict adherence to the
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance and Anti-Money Laundering and
Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance of Hong Kong. The Group
regards honesty, integrity and fair play as the core values that
must be upheld by our colleagues at all times. The Group does
not allow any bribery, corruption, extortion, money-laundering or
other fraudulent activities. The Group will support the employees
which include internal training and provide relevant reading
regarding to the anti-corruption and anti-money laundering.
Employees are required to possess high ethical standards and
demonstrate professional conduct in all business dealings with
our stakeholders.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Whistle-blowing channels are provided to the employees for the
purpose of anti-corruption and anti-money laundering reporting.
Those reporting employees are anonymous, can raise concerns
without the fear of retaliation. Any form of retaliation against the
whistle-blower is prohibited.

During the reporting period, the Group had no legal cases
regarding corrupt practices brought against the Group or its
employees.

Community investment

The Group encourages employees to contribute their time and
efforts in participating in various local community activities and
events.

In view of the COVID-19 pandemic in Hong Kong. The Group
donated COVID-19 prevention material to the organization which
provide to the citizen who are in need.

FEEDBACK

If you have any comments and advice on this Report or our performance on
sustainable development, please contact us by email at info@uba.com.hk.
Your feedback would greatly help us continuously improve our policies
for promoting the sustainable development of the Group.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of UBA
Investments Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 74 to 132, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

BRERSR
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BAMARERTREBRERSER

Fair value measurement for the unlisted equity shares included in financial assets at fair value through profit or

loss (“FVTPL”)

FIABRDFERESRIKR (R FERBERIER) cMBEENF L TREERON A FETE

As disclosed in Note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 March 2023, the Group’s unlisted
equity shares included in financial assets at FVTPL
amounted to approximately HK$2,360,000.
BNEEHBREMFIFIRE RZBE_=F=A=+—
B BEXEIARRFERERRIIR MBEEECELD
%= R 17 41 /42,360,00078 7T

As disclosed in Note 7(b) to the consolidated financial
statements, the investment in unlisted equity shares is
categorised as level 3 under the fair value hierarchy and
their fair values are assessed by the management based
on a valuation prepared by an independent qualified
professional valuer. The valuation techniques include
significant unobservable inputs and involve management
judgment and estimation. Changes in the key inputs and
assumptions on which the fair value of these assets are
based could significantly affect the Group’s assessment
resulting in a fair value change being recognised.
GRS S wRMT7(0) KT - FETRERNNKRERE
ATESRTIERE=R EATEHERERBEBELAE
REX[EMOGEETERE HERNEREATTERH
AE - TpREBENAG LG - K EEENRFEMKE
NARBARBRRNEDIGREYE SSENTE BW
BAAFEZY -

We consider the fair value measurement of the unlisted
equity shares classified as FVTPL as a key audit matter
because of the significant management judgements and
estimates involved in the fair value measurements for such
financial assets.
BMRAEDERELATERERRIIRMNIE LMERRMDH
REEFEAFERENETE BALEBVBEEN L TEFE
W REXNER A R o

Our procedures in relation to the fair value measurement
for the unlisted equity shares included in financial assets at
FVTPL included:

BEMYIAZRTERER
B fn 8 2

SRR M EECIEEMER
NFENEZEFBE:

o Obtaining an understanding of the entity’s process
regarding the determination of the fair value of the
unlisted equity shares;

THRZERANETI ETEARMNAFENRERT
J Assessing the independent qualified professional

valuer’s competence, capabilities and objectivity;

AEBUABREXMEMNS B EOREEK

o Evaluating the appropriateness of the methodologies,
judgements and estimates used in determining the
fair value of the investment in unlisted equity shares;
AEARETELTRERORENDFENSE
HE LG REBIRE

o Checking the arithmetical accuracy of calculations;
and

REFENTICERNY &

J Evaluating the appropriateness of the classification
and adequacy of disclosure made in the
consolidated financial statements

AR EMBRERT SR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises all the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance is responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group'’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,

among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement

that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships

and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats

or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

Lam Chik Tong
Practising Certificate Number: P05612

8/F, Catic Plaza

8 Causeway Road
Causeway Bay
Hong Kong

20 June 2023

BB RS

REMBGSUBRREL2ERE (F)

NEEREABZEET  RMAREHAHERE
HBBRRCBEGRR/ERZER  AMEKBER
ENER  RARGEMRETHAZEER -
BIBERERTAFLARBREZE SR AR
WERIERT  HMABBEARAMAREHEE
REREKX BARRBBELEZ ARG R
PARAETEERESTBERAER

ER(BB)SHMEEAERLA
PRBAED

HEE
HEFEERT  P05612

BB

i

= T EESH
M K ESE

=T ==t cH —RE

Annual Report 2023 4t

73



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 March 2023

RERESERREMEEEER

HE-ZT—

=¥=H=t—-BLHFE

2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
iz FET FET
Gross proceeds from disposal of trading HERSHBHFNMERIA
securities FekE] 20,874 10,396
Revenue WA 8 4,584 4,449
(Loss)/gain from changes in fair value of BATERERENRZ
financial assets at fair value through profit ~ BB EEZ AFEEZH
or loss 2 (BE) /= 9 (13,383) 185
Loss from changes in fair value of other HMREZ AT EEH
investment B8 - (30)
Other income HA WA 10 31 283
Administrative and other operating expenses 17H & H ‘& & %7 H} (5,665) (5,016)
Loss before taxation KRB &R 11 (14,433) (129)
Income tax expense AR X 14 - =
Loss and total comprehensive expenses ZAREEFEKZHEAY
for the year FEk (14,433) (129)
Loss per share: BREE:
Basic LN 15 (HK$0.0158T) (HKO0.01 centsi#{l)
Diluted e 45 N/A i@ f N/A i@ R
Dividend e 16 N/A T~E A N/A 7~ A
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As at 31 March 2023

NON-CURRENT ASSET

Plant and equipment

CURRENT ASSETS

Amounts due from related companies

Deposits

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Cash and cash equivalents

CURRENT LIABILITY

Accruals

NET CURRENT ASSETS

NET ASSETS

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Share capital
Reserves

TOTAL EQUITY

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE (HKS$)

The consolidated financial statements on pages 74 to 132 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 20 June

2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

Wong Yun Kuen
Executive Director
HITEF
=R

FRBEE
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BREEFE(GET)

R-T-_=F=A=+—H

2023 2022
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
log=3 FE TFHET
17 - E
18 335 315
66 66

19 85,725 100,544
20 4,323 3,950
90,449 104,875

325 318

90,124 104,557

90,124 104,557

22 12,717 12,717
77,407 91,840

90,124 104,557

23 0.07 0.08

FTARIRANGERMBHRREEEFEN_F
TZERAZTAERREREL YA TIA
ITRERE:

Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew
Executive Director
HITEE
BEMR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2023

HE_TZ-_—F=-F=+—HILFE

Share Share  Accumulated
capital premium losses Total
BA ki aE ZithR st
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
THET TAET TET TET
At 1 April 2021 RZE--FNA—H 12,717 107,217 (15,248) 104,686
Loss and total comprehensive expenses TEEFRR2ERATAER
for the year - - (129) (129)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZB-ZZ#=A=z+-Ak
“E-_FPNA—H 12,717 107,217 (15,377) 104,557
Loss and total comprehensive expenses TEEEER2EMTER
for the year - - (14,433) (14,433)
At 31 March 2023 R=BZ=%=A=1-H 12,117 107,217 (29,810) 90,124
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For the year ended 31 March 2023

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Loss before taxation
Adjustments for:
Dividend income
Bank interest income
Loss/(gain) from changes in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss
Loss from changes in fair value of other
investment

Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital

Decrease in financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Decrease in other investment

(Increase)/decrease in amounts due from
related companies

Increase/(decrease) in accruals

Cash used in operations
Dividend received

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITY
Interest received

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE
END OF THE YEAR,
represented by cash and bank balances
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2023
HK$°000
FET

(14,433)
(4,584)

(31)

13,383

(5,665)

1,436
(20)
(4,242)

4,584

342

31

373

3,950

4,323

2022
HK$'000
FET

(129)

(4,449)

(185)

30

(4,733)

943
1,053

(2,271)
4,449

2,178

2,178
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

GENERAL

UBA Investments Limited (the “Company”) is a public limited
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with its shares
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The address of its registered office is P.O. Box 309,
Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands. The
principal place of business of the Company is Flat B, 16th Floor,
Wah Kit Commercial Centre, 300 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong
Kong.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) are engaged in investment holding and trading of
securities.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional currency of the
Company and all values (including comparative information) are
rounded to the nearest thousand (HK$'000) except when otherwise
indicated.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year
In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning
on 1 April 2022 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the
Conceptual
Framework
Amendments to Hong Kong Accounting Property, Plant and
Standards (“HKAS”) 16 Equipment - Proceeds
before Intended Use
Onerous Contracts —
Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract
Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG 2. EREEAMBHREEL(FBVBERE
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) 8 |) 21&FT A (2)
(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the
October 2020 and February
2022 Amendments to HKFRS
17)

Insurance Contracts'

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor

CREMEBERERZHTEBYBREE

Bl R EERT A

ASEYEREFEBATEBMERRE
WAV R BB RELERREFTA

EAYBREENETH
(BE-Z-F41+AR
i S s g
HEREEANFETH
CHEN)

EBHBREEE10%

RERAH

RAEREBENTNG

HKAS 28 and its Associate or Joint Venture? REBEHEANENY  EOR/HNEELE
(fBETR) A
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback® EEMBREENF 6T ERHLIRISENAES
(B3TH) &
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non- BEGHERE15% BESBARDIER
current and related amendments to Hong Kong (B3TA) BAREERES5
Interpretation 5 (2020)° (2020F) 2 BT
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (2022)* EROHEN S5 MR n =g aE
CHES) (2002 )3
Amendments to HKAS 1and  Disclosure of Accounting Policies’ FRCHRAFINRES SHEEXRE
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 PBRELNEBRE
EPEACHEY
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates' A ERESN SHEHNES
CHEY)
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising R EHENE12% HE-RGMELECEE

from a Single Transaction'

; Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) anticipate that the
application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have
no material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information
may be material because of the nature of the related transactions,
other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial.
However, not all accounting policy information relating to
material transactions, other events or conditions is itself material.
If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy
information, such information must not obscure material accounting
policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the
“Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity
applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an accounting
policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and
examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have a
significant impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group’s significant
accounting policies. The impacts of application, if any, will be
disclosed in the Group'’s future consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require items in financial
statements to be measured in a way that involves measurement
uncertainty - that is, the accounting policy may require such items
to be measured at monetary amounts that cannot be observed
directly and must instead be estimated. In such a case, an entity
develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective set
out by the accounting policy. Developing accounting estimates
involves the use of judgements or assumptions based on the latest
available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in
HKAS 8 is retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS e U HRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE-Z-_=F=A=1+—HILEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. REAGEHBRECEERTESIHHK

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES %
(a) Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements (a) REGZEHBRREE
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared FGAMBRERDEREAGTMA

in accordance with HKFRSs which collective term includes
all applicable individual HKFRSs, HKASs and Interpretations
issued by HKICPA, accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong. These consolidated financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(“Listing Rules”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except the financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL”) and other investment is stated at fair
value, and on the basis that the Group is a going concern.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 Leases, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BBRREBR AR

ERMBERMBREEAN MBS
EHRAEABEEEGHMAGMA]
UZFAERNERNELN SRS E
Bl -ZREFEARERE BEA
R R - AFRMBRENMTE
B ER EmARD (T EWRA)
ERERGEXHOHRTE REE QAR
ZBRBERTE - AR M B RERDRE
EERAER RS ERQAFER
BaERIE (RATFERBRERS
Rl CHBEEREMRERRTE
NRMREAEERSELEREE -

JE e PR — RRIZIR IR E W) % AR 7% 5 T
BTZREZRFEE-

AHEATH2RERGERHESR
FXEFHEEEANRERIEERR
BN ZER  TRZERREE
ERBRAUSAERS—BHENE
fhat - HFAEEX BB L FER
AKEZEMH2EERFERDRA
HEEIRBRETEERHEERA
BEIRERH EXTHAUBR
RPEEM/IRENDFEIEL
EWETURE HBEMBREE
RIS (LR 7 X 17 | SRR 2 SARR
DXANRS  REFEHBREE
RIE165E [HE/ AR ZHER 5
FEATEACBTHAFENTE
(Bl - BE G REAER[FE]H
MR B HFERF L ST ERF365%R
[EZERE]THOERER) R -



e MR MEE

BE_T-_=F=A=+—HItFE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3.
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(a) Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

(a) WRESHBHRRZEE(F)

(continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs are to
be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition
the results of the valuation technique equals the transaction
price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b) Significant accounting policies
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

U is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the Company.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses

and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS e MR RME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE-Z-_=F=A=1+—HIHFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. RAGEHERRCEERTESIHK

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(b) Significant accounting policies (continued)
Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The annual rate used for
furniture, fixtures and equipment is 20%. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or
loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between the
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises cash on hand, excluding bank
balances that are subject to regulatory restrictions that
result in such balances no longer meeting the definition
of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises short-term (generally
with an original maturity of three months or less), highly
liquid investment that is readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are held for
the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments
rather than for investment or other purposes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(b) Significant accounting policies (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents (continued)
For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management. Such
overdrafts are presented as short-term borrowings in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b) Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Dividend income
Dividend income which is derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business is presented as revenue.

Dividends are recognised in profit or loss only when:

(a) the entity’s right to receive payment of the dividend is
established;

(b) it is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the entity; and

(c) the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(b) Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)
All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

e oninitial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit
taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that is required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i)  Amortised cost and interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b) Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)
(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is
included in the “Gain/(loss) from changes in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” line
item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under the
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
(including amounts due from investee companies/related
companies, deposits and bank balances) which are subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on the
Group'’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b) Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
The Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m
ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(b) Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
e an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b) Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-
off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(b) Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data and forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the

contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised

cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount

and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b) Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including accruals are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary

items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS e MR RME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE-Z-_=F=A=1+—HIHFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. RAGEHERRCEERTESIHK

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES R(#B

(continued)

(b) Significant accounting policies (continued) (b) FEEHBXK(E)
Taxation #HE

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before taxation
because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investment in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investment are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b) Significant accounting policies (continued)
Taxation (continued)
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of rent of office that have a lease term of 12 months
and do not contain a purchase option. Lease payments on
short-term leases are recognised as expenses on a straight-
line basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(b) Significant accounting policies (continued)
Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Pension obligations

The Group participates in a defined contribution mandatory
provident fund scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) which is
available to all employees. Contributions to the MPF Scheme
by the Group and its employees are calculated based on
a percentage of employees’ relevant income. The Group’s
contributions to the fund are incurred as expenses and the
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administrated fund.

Payments to the MPF Scheme are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the Directors are required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The Directors have not come across any significant areas
where critical judgements are involved in applying the Group’s
accounting policies.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

Certain of the Group’s financial assets amounting to HK$2,360,000
as at 31 March 2023 (2022: HK$3,299,000) are measured at fair
values with fair values being determined based on significant
unobservable inputs using appropriate valuation techniques.
Judgment and estimation are required in establishing the relevant
valuation techniques and the relevant inputs thereof. Changes in
assumptions relating to these factors could affect the reported fair
values of these instruments. See Note 7(b) for further disclosures.

Provision of ECL for amounts due from investee companies/
related companies

The loss allowances for amounts due from investee companies/
related companies are based on assumptions about risk of default
and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgment in making
these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the end of each
reporting period. The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL and amounts due from
investee companies/related companies are disclosed in Notes
7(a).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
from the prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity, comprising
issued share capital, share premium and accumulated losses.

The Directors review the capital structure on a semi-annual basis.
As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital
and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the Directors, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through the payment of dividends and new
share issues.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 6. ©RIESHE
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial ERERIANRERRZEEBENT
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Financial assets BRERE
Financial assets at FVTPL BEATERBRESERZ
MBEE 85,725 100,544
Amortised cost R
Amounts due from related companies e U5 B B A ) 335 315
Deposits bioaon 66 66
Cash and cash equivalents ReRASEEY 4,323 3,950
4,724 4,331
Financial liability B aE
Amortised cost B SHPLR
Accruals JERTE 325 318
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

7l

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES
(a) Financial risk factors

The Group’s major financial instruments comprise financial
assets at FVTPL, amounts due from investee companies/
related companies, deposits, cash and cash equivalents and
accruals. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in

respective notes.

The risks associated with these financial instruments include
equity price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate
risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial

performance.

(i) Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investment in equity securities measured at FVTPL. The
equity securities measured at FVTPL are susceptible
to equity price risk arising from uncertainties about the
future prices of the instrument and the management of
the Group manages the equity price risk exposure by
maintaining a portfolio of investment with different risks.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses have been determined based on
the exposure to equity price risk at the reporting date.
Sensitivity analyses for unquoted equity securities with
fair value measurement categorised within Level 3 were
disclosed in Note 7(b).

For sensitivity analysis of equity securities with fair
value measurement categorised within Level 1, if the
prices of the respective equity instruments had been
20% (2022: 20%) higher/lower, the post-tax loss for the
year ended 31 March 2023 would decrease/increase by
HK$16,673,000 (2022: HK$19,449,000) as a result of the
changes in fair value of investment at FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)
(a) Financial risk factors (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Equity price risk (continued)

Concentration of risk

For equity securities investment, concentration of equity
price risk may arise if the Group has a significant
investment in a single equity investment. At the end of
the reporting period, the Group has five (2022: five)
equity investment which accounts for more than 5% of
the total assets of the Group. Details are as follows.

e MR MEE

HE_E_=F=A=+t—HIFE

7. BHBAREBABREK(4)

() BBREBEZRE)
(i) %JE%@@%@
BEFIER
%hﬁ EHREME  WEAS
EHE-RAREBEARE -
Ak g HIRBRAEEERRR -
RBEHR AEEERE(Z
TZ_F - RBE)RAKE (&
AEBEEBEMSRA L -7
BT -

% of total assets of the Group

hAEEREEZBOL
2023 2022
PCCW Limited ERBMAERR 25.14% 24.45%
Bank of China Limited qﬂlﬁEﬁHﬂﬂﬁﬁEAaﬁ 15.57% 13.82%
Kwong Man Kee Group Limited BXEEEERAA 12.60% 11.15%
MTR Corporation Limited BEAEEARAA 7.69% 7.42%
Harbour Equine Holdings Limited ~ #55 HEKRAR A
(formerly known as “Shen You (81 %MEE@TIJ&%—BEAETJ)
Holdings Limited”) 6.52% 7.95%

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’'s
counterparties default on their contractual obligations
resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group’s
credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to
amounts due from investee companies/related
companies, deposits and bank balance. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to
cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets.

The Group performed impairment assessment for
financial assets under the ECL model. Information about
the Group’s credit risk management, maximum credit
risk exposures and the related impairment assessment,
if applicable, are summarised as below:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)
(a) Financial risk factors (continued)

(ii) Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Amounts due from investee companies/related
companies and deposits

The management makes periodic individual assessment
on the recoverability of amounts due from investee
companies/related companies and deposits based on
historical settlement records, past experience, and
also quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.

For amounts due from investee companies, the
management believes that there is a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition and the Group
provided impairment based on lifetime ECL and had
made a full provision for amounts due from investee
companies. For the year ended 31 March 2022, the
Group assessed there is no realistic prospect of
recovery of the amounts due from investee companies,
the gross amount of HK$9,796,000 has been fully
written-off.

For amounts due from related companies and deposits,
the management believes that there is no significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition and
the Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL.
For the year ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the
Group assessed the ECL for amounts due from related
companies and deposits are insignificant and thus no
loss allowance is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

e MR MEE
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 7. UDXERBREEBEERBE(£)
POLICIES (continued)
(a) Financial risk factors (continued) (a) BIHEBREZZ)
(ii) Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) (i) EEREERREFG(E)

Bank balances

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the

counterparties are reputable banks with high credit

ratings assigned by international credit agencies.

The Group assessed 12m ECL for bank balances by

reference to information relating to probability of default

and loss given default of the respective credit rating

grades published by external credit rating agencies.

Based on the average loss rates, the 12m ECL on bank

balances is considered to be insignificant and therefore

no loss allowance was recognised.

RiTHEH
ﬁﬁﬁ%%%%ﬂ@ﬁ@'l%
RHPUFHRESEREERE
%%mﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁ;ﬁﬂ%ﬁ
17 AEE2MIMNDEE TR
BLMOBEEFRERNEN
BMERBNBRNOMABER - &F
BRITHEBNI2EAAEREES
B RIFVIGEAE - RITER
K12 A RBEEERBMTR
& Rt W EERERRE -

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment REBHRNIEERB D R
comprises the following categories: BENATER
Internal
credit rating Description Financial assets
WS B Bl BBEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not  12m ECL
have any past-due amounts
iR RHGHEFHNENRBIE - I EE B LR 12 AFEMEEEE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually settle  12m ECL
in full
BReE BEHRAKTRIBARET BRE2EEE 128 AFEBEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk since  Lifetime ECL - not
initial recognition through information developed internally  credit-impaired
or external resources
R BRBANR  BEAASRENEHIINEER  FER 2PEPEEFRE-1E
B BE L EERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired Lifetime ECL - credit-
impaired
2P S REBBETEECRGERE THRHGEEBE-BE
ERME
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe ~ Amount is written off
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect
of recovery
i 3 FEBRRERARRBREN KRS mASEERETS SBETIAMS
,m/f%llilm
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS e U HRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-_T-_—F=-fF=+—HILFE
7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 7. BERREEBERMEK(Z)
POLICIES (continued)
(a) Financial risk factors (continued) (a) BIHEMREZZ)
(ii) Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) (i) EEREREFG(E)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of TERFHNAEENTHEENE
the Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ECL ERE HWEBESZDHITES
assessment. S EEBTM .
2023 2022
Gross Gross
External Internal 12m or carrying  carrying
Note  creditrating  creditrating lifetime ECL amount amount

12zl ZT-=F —T-—F
e IPEERE APEETR BHEEEBR AEHE AREE
HK$000 HK$'000

FET FET
Financial assets at amortised cost
REBHERASTENTBEE
Amounts due from related 18 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 335 315
companies

L NGBS 18 THEA Ve 12EAEHEE

BB
Deposits N/A Low risk 12m ECL 66 66
i TiER EE R 12 BHEE

BB
Bank balances 20 AA+ N/A 12m ECL 4,320 3,947
RITH & 20 AA+ TiER 12 ARHEE

B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (continued)
(a) Financial risk factors (continued)
(iii) Liquidity risk

For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the
Group invests in both listed and unlisted securities
which are classified as financial assets at FVTPL. Listed
securities are considered to be readily realisable as they
are trading in regulated stock exchanges.

The management of the Group manages liquidity risk by
maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities
and by maintaining the ability to close out market
positions.

All the financial liabilities are non-derivative and non-
interest bearing. The following table details the Group’s
remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities.
The total undiscounted cash flows is based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.

e MR MEE

BE_T-_=F=A=+—HItFE

7/

FBE

EZREREER (&)

(a) MBERBEZEZ)
(i) TEEZERE

BEZT-=GR-ZT--F=
A=+—HLEFE  AEEKE
RETMRIFELTRERES - 15D
BAEELAFENBERINE M
BEE BRZELMESFER
REZRAR LT - AR
BHNER -

AEENEEERBRIT AN
RekBEESR  WEhREMS
FRENNEERDESEAR

ARG EEBIEITETARS
AR TRAJIAKEMHAR
HRGAAERE - RERRE
MELBERBEARBAERE
KM FEHE -

Annual Report 2023 4t

105



106

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

7l

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)
(a) Financial risk factors (continued)

(iii) Liquidity risk (continued)

(iv)

e MR MEE

HE-_Z-_=#=-A=+—-ALFE

7.

FBE

REERBRRBE(E)

(a) MBEABREEE)
(iii) TEEZEE (E)

On demand Total
or less than 1 to 3 undiscounted Carrying
1 month months cash flows amount
BERY AURRE
PMEAR 1E3(8 A TEEH BREE
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET
2023 bt g
Accruals e+ &M 210 115 325 325
2022 —F-C
Accruals ANE- 3 213 105 318 318

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to fixed-rate short-term bank deposit (see
Note 20 for details). The Group is also exposed to
cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate
bank balances (see Note 20 for details). The Group
cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on
the fluctuation of interest rates on bank balances. The
Group manages its interest rate exposures by assessing
the potential impact arising from any interest rate
movements based on interest rate level and outlook.

Total interest income from financial assets that are
measured at amortised cost is as follows:

(iv) =@k

REE T ETE SRR HRITER
ARORFERN R (FRHM
i20) ° AEEINE R T B F
KHMRTEBRBANRTREN
L (FRME20) - AEEZ
RenEMEZEREBEFNR
THRBINFIXEE - REBRE
kY S ETEGaEEIES Sl
EECBEYENEEENER

LA
oo
A

o

RBHERAFT B ZHBEEZF
BRABEHIINT -

2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest income under effective EBRFEEB T ZHE KA
interest method
Financial assets at amortised cost 18 §Hp At & 2 B & E 31 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)
(a) Financial risk factors (continued)
(iv) Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

As the management considers that the exposure of
cash flow interest rate risk arising from variable-rate
bank balances is insignificant, no sensitivity analysis in
respect of changes in interest rate of bank balances is
not presented.

(b) Fair value measurements

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair

value for financial reporting purposes. In estimating the fair

value, the Group uses market-observable data to the extent

it is available. For instruments with significant unobservable

inputs under Level 3, the Group engages an independent

qualified professional valuer to perform the valuation.

The Directors work closely with the independent qualified

professional valuer to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model.

(i)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The
following table gives information about how the fair
values of these financial assets are determined (in
particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

e MR MEE
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7. HBEE

(a)

(b)

B EEHERBUR (&)

BHEBRREE(E)
(iv) FIEELE (&)

AREEERRFBNRNRT
RBEBMHEROESRENXER
AR Bt &\ 25 FBRTE
BRI R B BURE DA o

NYERE

RABHREME AKBETHBEE
ERBAVEFE REFAFE
B ARERAESHNSEEAERT
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ZRBUAEREXMGEMETRE
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BA
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BeBAE-

(i)

KEERER L FEIBCAE
B BEENLFE
AEKENETHHEERNER
SHMRRAFERE - TRET
ARETHENBEENAFE
ZIERMER (BRI ZMAMEE
KT RBAE) °

Fair value hierarchy Level 1 Level 3 Total
DFEER B—® E=1 it
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FHET
2023 —BI=H
Financial assets at FVTPL BRATERERERZ
s EE 83,365 2,360 85,725
2022 Sl
Financial assets at FVTPL BRATERERER
MBEE 97,245 3,299 100,544
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)
(b) Fair value measurements (continued)
(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

e MR MEE

HE-_Z-_=#=-A=+—-ALFE

7. BEEBEEEERBE(Z)

(b) AFEIFEE)

(i) HEREERLFEIEZEE
B HBEENLFE(E)

Note: An increase in the DLOM used in isolation would result in
a decrease in the fair value measurement of the unlisted
equity investment and vice versa. A 10% increase
or decrease in the DLOM, holding all other variables
constant, would decrease or increase the fair value of
the unlisted equity investment by HK$323,000 (2022:
HK$452,000) and HK$323,000 (2022: HK$452,000)
respectively for the year ended 31 March 2023.

UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BABSREBR AT

(continued)
Valuation
Fair value technique and Significant Significant
Fairvalue  Fairvalue hierarchy key input(s) unobservable inputs unobservable inputs
fhERER
AR ATE  ATESHK IZHAE EXTUBZAAE EAMMBREAR
2023 222 2023 2022
HK$000  HK$000
Fér  TEr
Financial assets at FVTPL
BRATERERESIR 2 HBEE
- Listed equity securities tradingin 83,365 97245 Leveld Quoted bid prices N/A NA
the Stock Exchange - in an active iR NER
-RBRHEE LTRAES market
WERTSZ
EARE
- Unlisted equity investment 2,360 3299 Level3 Market approach Discount of lack of DLOM: 27%
~F LmRARE Ft ) (Note) marketabiiy (‘DLOM): 27%
it (i) #2 @t nira(1oLom)) :
20%
Enterprise valugs-to-sales EV/S multiple: 1.34x
('EVIS") multiple: 0.68x
EEEEHHE(EVS)) EVISEEL: 1.34f8
5% 0.681
Price-to-sales Price-to-eamings
(‘PIS") multiple: (‘PIE") multiple:
2.9 15.65x
mRHHE(PS)) mEHEM (PE])
B8 : 2008 {88 : 15,651

Kiaz . BEBEBIRADLOME NG E
BELTRABENRTE
B8R D  R2T% &
DLOM Ak 5 4 10% i F7
EEMBHRETEZE
moBE_E-_Z=%=A
=+—HILFEELETRAE
BENDTEEED R D
s 3 1323,000/8 T (=&
— ZF 1 452,0008 ) &
323,000 (Z T ==& :
452,000/ 7T) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)
(b) Fair value measurements (continued)
(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis
(continued)
Note: (continued)

An increase in the EV/S multiples used in isolation would
result in an increase in the fair value measurement of
the unlisted equity investment and vice versa. A 10%
increase or decrease in the EV/S multiples, holding all
other variables constant, would increase or decrease the
fair value of the unlisted equity investment by HK$64,000
(2022: HK$300,000) and HK$64,000 (2022: HK$300,000)
respectively for the year ended 31 March 2023.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, an increase in the
P/S multiples used in isolation would result in an increase
in the fair value measurement of the unlisted equity
investment and vice versa. A 10% increase or decrease
in the P/S multiples, holding all other variables constant,
would increase or decrease the fair value of the unlisted
equity investment by HK$217,000 and HK$217,000
respectively for the year ended 31 March 2023.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, an increase in
the P/E multiples used in isolation would result in an
increase in the fair value measurement of the unlisted
equity investment and vice versa. A 10% increase or
decrease in the P/E multiples, holding all other variables
constant, would increase or decrease the fair value of the
unlisted equity investment by HK$23,000 and HK$23,000
respectively for the year ended 31 March 2022.

There were no changes in valuation techniques during the
year.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, trading of certain
suspended securities has been resumed and thus fair value
measurements of those securities have been transferred from
Level 3 to Level 1. Other than that, there was no transfer
of fair value measurements between levels of fair value
hierarchy during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 31
March 2022.

e MR MEE

BE_T-_=F=A=+—HItFE

7. BEE

BEREERME(E)

(b) AFEIFEE)

(i)

F

KEREER L FETEZEE
B FEENL FE(E)

it (%)

B R MEV/SEBIL NS
BEETRAKRENLTEE
FFEEM RZ A - FEEY/
SHE EUE MR 2 10% M BT B
HEaBERBTEZER B
el = = = El
FEILTRARENATE
1% 3 Bl 3 AN 5k R 264,000 7T
(=ZF = =% :300,000% Jr)
}64,0008 L (ZE ==
300,000/ L) °

BE-_T-_=#=A=1—H
IFFE - BBILRMP/SESL
MEBBEE L MRAREH D

FEF2EM RZNA K
P/SEEEUL MR 10%mETA
HEaBERBIEZBER B
e e i et i [
FEILTRARENATE
1% 5 Bl 38 a0 sk R 4217,0007%
7T }217,000/8 7T ©

HE-ZT-_-_f=A=+—H
IHFE - BB IRMP/ERESL
MEBBEE L TRAREHD
FEFEEM RZNA K
P/EREERE SR A 10% M ETA
Em PHRETE BN
—T-_—F=R=+—H1It
%F#tﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁm AE
1 7 B3 fn sk s 23,0007 7T
223,000/ T

NEEZELEZE

FEE a’é%E\Hf’EEE
SRR TEFEERLHE
%f’é 2% %&‘)I?f%lklztwl\'ﬁé\éﬁ

7f¢:ﬁz¥la¢¢§’@¥@
BB m AT ES B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (continued)

(b) Fair value measurements (continued)
(ii) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

e MR MEE

HE-_Z-_=#=-A=+—-ALFE

7. UBEBEEBEERBE(E)

(b) AFE(E)
(i) ZE=RLFETEZHEK

HK$'000

FHET

As at 1 April 2021 *EEH H 1,754
Transfers into level 1 (securities resumed —BREEEES)

trading) (304)

Net gain in profit or loss R RIER 2% W 1,849
As at 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 e — e s R Ser—ElIN

_E__imﬁ =] 3,299

Net loss in profit or loss RERERR 2 FER (939)

As at 31 March 2023 =Z=f¥=ZR=t+—H 2,360

(iii) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liability that are not measured at fair value

on a recurring basis

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts
of financial assets and financial liability recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values due to short-term

maturities.

8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(iii) LHUEEREEZL P EHTEZ
FEEYBEERIBEEH L
FE
%%ﬁ%~m%&@%mﬂ%’

iR & M ISR IR R AT AR
U BEERMBEENREE
HATERE

8. WAKRZDH#HE

2023 2022

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Dividend income from listed equity investment 28 B £ A& 4838 4 B 8 4 A 4,584 4,449

No analysis of the Group’s revenue and contribution to operating
loss for the current and prior years set out by principal activities
and geographical markets is provided as the Group has only
one single business segment, investment holding and all the
consolidated revenue and the consolidated results of the Group
are attributable to the performance of the markets in Hong Kong.

No information about major customers has been disclosed as
a substantial portion of the Group’s income is derived from the
Group’s investment and the disclosure of information regarding

customers would not be meaningful.

UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BBRREBR AR

ANAKRERAEREERE-XRB - UK
AEBRBEHARARERXETRRA
BmG AT EKEEREERIET
5 2NAREAEFEREFREIBRAR
REER -

ARAEEZEBRERBABHAERE
@iﬁz ' PﬁLA/xﬁthx%}EE’]éﬂ{’EﬁTﬁ



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

9. (LOSS)/GAIN FROM CHANGES IN FAIR VALUE OF

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR
LOSS (“FVTPL”)
The following is the analysis of the (loss)/gain from changes in fair
value of financial assets at FVTPL of the Group for the years ended
31 March 2023 and 2022. The realised (loss)/gain represents the
fair value change of financial assets at FVTPL being disposed
of during the reporting period, while the unrealised (loss)/gain
represents the changes in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL
held by the Group as at the end of the reporting period.

e MR MEE

BE_T_=F-A=t—HIL#FE

Eﬁiﬁﬁﬁ‘ﬁﬂ$2ﬁ%§§2®
TEED (FR) /Wi

UNTRAAGERE_T_=FR_F_—
FZA=ZT-RLEFERAFERERR
SR MBEAEZ ATFEEZSZ (B]R),/
WD - EBR (BR) RERHRED
WHY@?Q?TEEAEEEEEJEEZEM%QE

$%@B@#&%Hﬁﬂ<%ﬁﬂ’ﬂﬁﬂ¥ﬁﬁﬁ%?&
IR MBEEZATVERZE :

2023 2022
HK$000 HK$000
FHET FET

Listed equity investment EFHRAES
— Realised (loss)/gain (Note 24) — 838 (B8) Wz (f:t24) (545) 718
- Unrealised loss (Note 24) — KRB EIE (f7724) (11,899) (2,382)
(12,444) (1,664)

Unlisted equity investment FEMRAHE

- Unrealised (loss)/gain (Note 24) — KRB (EB) Wk (F24) (939) 1,849
(13,383) 185
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS e U HRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE_TZ-_—F=-F=+—HILFE
10. OTHER INCOME 10. Hfplg A
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Bank interest income RITF BUA 31 =
Others Hit - 283
31 283
11. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 11. R AIEE
Loss before taxation has been arrived at after charging: B AIEEE B TSI
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Auditors’ remuneration ZEA B & 230 210
Investment management fee paid to arelated S FHERARZKEEERER
company (Note 25(a)) (Htit25(a)) 1,414 1,569
Short-term lease expenses (Note 25(i)) KEHHEEH (1i#250)) 264 264
Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration) B THRA (BEEEHE)
— Salaries, bonuses and other benefits —I%8 BeMEMEF 1,006 1,047
— Contributions to retirement benefits scheme — R /R48 Al 5t 21t 3 25 26
Total staff cost BTIRALE 1,031 1,073
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 12. S

Directors’ remuneration for the years, disclosed pursuant to the

applicable Listing Rules and Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is

BEER TR AGIREZFR
ESHFMEENT

as follows:
Retirement
benefits
Discretionary scheme
Fees bonuses  contributions Total
RIRER
ik HEEA BE L ‘st
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET
Year ended 31 March 2023 HZ-ZT-=%
ZA=t+t-HLEE
Executive directors HTES
WONG Yun Kuen (Chairman) & B (/) 30 50 1 81
CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew Bt 30 50 3 83
CHAU Wai Hing BEHE 30 50 3 83
Independent non-executive BYFHTES

directors
FUNG Lewis Hung 5 R 30 50 - 80
TANG Hon Bui, Ronald HER 30 50 - 80
KWOK Ming Fai FHE 30 50 - 80

180 300 7 487
Year ended 31 March 2022 HE-ZT-—%
ZR=1+-HL%FE
Executive directors HITES
WONG Yun Kuen (Chairman) &8 (%) 30 50 3 83
CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew HiEth 30 50 3 83
CHAU Wai Hing (appointed BEBR(R-_F=_—F

on 1 September 2021) NA—BEZME) 18 29 2 49
Independent non-executive BYFHTES

directors
CHAN Chung Yee, Alan BR&M_ZT_F

(resignation effective from 1A —HEFHE)

1 April 2022) 30 50 - 80
FUNG Lewis Hung ISR 30 50 = 80
TANG Hon Bui, Ronald HEzZ 30 50 = 80
KWOK Ming Fai e 30 50 - 80

198 329 8 585

Annual Report 2023 4t

113



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

12.

13.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services in connection with the management
of the affairs of the Company.

No directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to the Directors as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
Four (2022: Four) of the five highest paid individuals were
Directors, whose emoluments are included in Note 12.

Details of emoluments of the five highest paid individuals
(excluding the Directors) are:

e MR MEE

HE-_Z-_=#=-A=+—-ALFE

12.

13.

EEME (F)
LABTEEMERREFRHAREER
ARRAEEEHEHORBEMEL o

LTABUFRTESHERKSRAER
BEEARARZHHORBEMIESL -

HE-_T-_=-GR-_FE-—F=f=+—
BILEERNTEESCMERREREME
B & -

BE-Z-=FR-F--_F=ZR=+—
BILFE  AEEURAES M T
G EARSIHEENBRMBEAERRK 2
REVUIERBEBRHE -

LEBRSHFMAL
IEREHFMALT OE(ZF -
mE)RES  REZHECENMEI2-

IEBRFMAL(TERES) cMEF

1 :

2023 2022

HK$°000 HK$000

FET FET

Basic salaries and bonuses EARE M RIEA 526 520
Retirement benefits contributions RINEM R 18 18
544 538

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to the highest paid individuals (excluding
the Directors) as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

13.

14.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued)

Analysis of the emoluments of the five highest paid individuals
(excluding the Directors) by number of individuals and emolument
ranges is as follows:

e MR MEE

Bz

13.

—E_=F=A=+—HItFE

REBBHFMAL(H)
TEBSHIAL(FOEES) BARE
e BESFHIIDT -

2023 2022

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000 7T

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong Profits
Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity
will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be
taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat
rate of 16.5%.

No provision for the Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as
the Company did not generate any estimated assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during the years ended 31 March 2023 and
2022.

The income tax expense for the years can be reconciled to the loss
before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as follows:

14.

FriSMif

EEANGHOANGHMARGT 68
REBEEBZS 5% B R EF &
2,000,00078 7T A A B I8 - I ¥ 1216.5% )
i & 3 18 182,000,00078 7T 69 34 FI 41 4 31
B MFENEHMAMNEENEREEN
i M B 1216.5% ) Bl — T R AR -

HRAEEEE S _=FR-_F=_—
“ACT—HLEFERIAEEETMMG
ERBFE Bt ERBAFIEHEL
Ef B -

RABEE2MERAZTEGEERR
Hth2EWEZAME KRB AIBERERD
oINS

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Loss before taxation B Hi B B 18 (14,433) (129)
Tax at the statutory income tax rate of PAOETE FT5 5 %16.5%

16.5% FEZBE (2,381) (21)
Tax effect of non-taxable income BEARBRBAZB BT 2 (762) (1,151)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses FAMBRY ZHBE T2 2,557 618
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ~ KERZHBEBZHETE 586 554

Fr8BR X

Income tax expense
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

e MR MEE

HE_TZ-_—F=-F=+—HILFE

15. LOSS PER SHARE 15. BREE
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loss for the year FEBE 14,433 129
Number of shares BRE

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of basic loss
per share

AEEREABERZEBK
AN 9 B

No diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 March 2023 and
2022 were presented as there were no potential ordinary shares in

issue for both years.

16. DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of
the Company during the year ended 31 March 2023, nor has any
dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting period

(2022: Nil).

UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BABSREBR AT

16.

1,271,732,200  1,271,732,200

FalESme ey Sl e ea el
BLEFEEHREEREEER RAEM
BAFEEHLABENCRITERR -

BB
RBEE-_ZT-_ZF=-A=+—HLFEY
ERAHIEZRMSRE TARA L BRAR
BNERREHEEERRBRBRMGME
MRE(ZE-ZF: &)



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

17. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

e MR MEE

BE_T-_=F=A=+—HItFE

17. e KRB

Furniture,
fixtures and
equipment
RE-HERK
B3]
HK$'000
FET
Cost B

As 1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 RZZE-—FMA-—BR=-E--_F=RA=+—H 6
Written-off ke (6)
As 31 March 2023 R=B==%=ZH=+—H -

Accumulated depreciation 2RENE
As 1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 RZE-—FMA—BAR=TE-_=F=H=+—H 6
Written-off i sH (6)

As 31 March 2023 R=ZE==%=A=1-—H

REE
R=ZB=-=-f=ZH=t+—H

Carrying amount
As 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2023

18. AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED COMPANIES

R=B-=f=A=+-H =

18. EWREIHE DB 278

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

Amounts due from related companies: FE Uk BA B A ) 2 TR
Upbest Securities Company Limited (‘USCL”) XZB#ERAF ([Z2EA]) 246 106
Upbest Investment Company Limited (“UICL") EEHREBRAF ([EEHRE]) 89 209
335 S
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

18.

19.

e MR MEE

HE-_Z-_=#=-A=+—-ALFE

AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED COMPANIES (continued) 18. BWEHM AR 25IE (&)
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET

Maximum balance outstanding during FRREERSEH
the year:

USCL EEE 329 741
UICL XERE 7,309 4,827

USCL and UICL are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Upbest Group
Limited and are licensed corporations under the Hong Kong
Securities and Futures Ordinance. Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew is
the common executive director of the Company and Upbest Group
Limited. The balances represent client monies held by them in their
normal course of business. The amounts are unsecured, interest-
free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

Details of ECL assessment are set out in Note 7(a).

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR
LOSS

19.

XEEFREEREARFEEEARD
AZEEMBRAR YABEEFRBE
EBIT 2 Fhe 5 - BRREL/RAF
EEREBRERARZARNTES - &
BENSREREGBRTHRELRFE
- ARREREER 2EREETE
e

BHEEBRNHE 2 HFBHRME(a) -

BRRATFERBRERIR2VBEE

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$'000

FE FET

Listed equity securities ERAES 83,365 97,245
Unlisted equity securities FLETRAEES 2,360 3,299
85,725 100,544

Market value of listed equity securities FHRAFES 2 TE 83,365 97,245

The equity securities are classified as current assets as the
management expects to realise them within twelve months after the
reporting period.

For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the fair value of the
listed equity securities is determined based on the quoted market
closing price available on the Stock Exchange at the end of the
reporting period and the fair value of unlisted equity securities is
arrived on the basis of valuation carried out by an independent
professional valuer by using market approach. For the valuation
method of the financial asset at FVTPL, please refer to Note 7(b).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

20.

21.

22,

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Other than the short-term deposit which carries interest at a market
rate of 3.28% (2022: N/A), bank balances earn interest at floating
rates based on daily bank deposit rates.

All of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are denominated in
HK$. Details of ECL assessment on bank balances are set out in
Note 7(a).

e MR MEE

HE-T—

20.

=F=H=1T—RLEE

RERBAEEEY

Bk %2 B3 73 SR T 45 F R3.28%:t B (=
ZZEPER)N RIOTESREERR
TR S RE BN R BRELA 8 -

ARBEMAERE KRS FEMH UL
BE-ARRTEBCEREEBERIRL
ABERMET(a)

DEFERRED TAXATION 21. EEHE
Deferred tax assets not recognised REAZELEHEEE
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Tax losses MIEEE 11,866 11,280
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused RBEER - AEEA A HEHEARERT
estimated tax losses of HK$71,922,000 (2022: HK$68,369,000) A2 R B R AT A B 1R 71,922,000/8 7T
available for offsetting against future taxable profits. No deferred (ZZ =% : 68,369,000/ 7T) ° R KA
tax asset has been recognised in respect of such losses due to TR Z G MR - B0 R 2 F E 1R
the unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax losses do not RELERIEEE - REBEFRTHE - BIEBE
expire under current tax legislation. TR -
SHARE CAPITAL 22. RA&
Nominal Number Nominal value
value of ordinary of ordinary
per share shares shares
SREE EBRYE EBREE
HK$ HK$'000
FBT
Authorised ordinary shares: AEEBR
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 and RZZE-_—-FmA—B8"
31 March 2023 o e a2
=== =H=F—H 0.01  2,000,000,000 20,000
Issued and fully paid ordinary shares: EHTRAZEZER:
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 and RZZB-—-FHA—-R:
31 March 2023 ZZ__F=A=t-HBR
“ZE-=%=ZA=+—H 0.01 1,271,732,200 12,717
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

23. NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE

e MR MEE

HE-_T-_—F=-fF=+—HILFE

23.

The calculation of net asset value per share is based on the
net assets of the Group amounted to HK$90,124,000 (2022:
HK$104,557,000) and 1,271,732,200 (2022: 1,271,732,200)
ordinary shares in issue as at 31 March 2023.

24. PARTICULARS OF SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD BY

THE GROUP

24,

Particulars of investment held by the Group as at 31 March 2023
disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules are as

SRAEFHE

BREEFEDREASBEEF
8 5£90,124,0008 T (Z T ==
104,557,008 L) KRR T Z=6=A
=+—BZBEITEAEMR,271,732,2008%
(ZT -4 :1,271,732,200f%) 51 & -

AREBEZEIEREZHE

BELTRAESNEREZ2ASER-F
TZEZ A=t HRAZREHRBOT

follows:
Disposal
Proportion cost/ Dividend
of investee’s carrying Realised  Unrealised received  Netassets
capital Disposal amount of gain (loss)  gain (loss) during  attributable to
Name of investee companies %:geg Cost Fairvalue  consideration investment for the year for the year the year the investment
Z
‘ 80 :  BEuME  EEESE EEAER £ RERE
RELAER BRLA A AYE HERE AA/RER  WE(ER)  KE(EE) BHKE BERE
HK$000 HK$ 000 HK§ 000 HK§ 000 HK§ 000 HK§ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
AL AT &L FAT FAT AT AT AT
(Notg 9) (Notg 9) (Norg 8)
(Wit9) (Hi9) (Hist8)
Listed equity investment
LTRARE
PCCW Limited 0.0749% 42,708 2,181 - - - (2.900) 2147 9,566
ENENERAT
Bank of China Limited 0.0016% 15,995 14,087 7,620 (8,190) (570) (413) 1,065 46,653
hERTRAERAR
Kuwong Man Kee Group Limited 4.9985% 9,421 11,39 - - - (300) 149 5,851
BRsBERAT
MTR Gorporation Limited 0.0030% 7,920 6,956 - - - (827) 263 5,331
EAERERAA
Harbour Equine Holdings Limited
(formerly known as “Shen You
Holdings Limited") 4.1190% 6,404 5,898 - - - (2.444) - 2,798
ERRERRARLA
(AR BARERAA))
Bank of Communications Co, Ltd. 0.0009% 3,591 3,458 - - - (384) 260 11,158
RAFTRAERAR
JBB Builders International
Limited 0.9288% 2,180 1,951 - - - (604) - 2,356
China Construction Bank
Corporation 0.0002% 2,6% 2,647 6,033 (6,186) (153) (72) 197 6,843
PEERRTRNERAT
CK Hutchison Holdings Limited 0.0013% 4,590 2,435 - - - (443) 134 8,450
RINZEXERAR
Xinjiang Xinxin Mining Industry
Co. Ltd 0.0724% 14,359 2,208 - - - (32) - 3,499

HENERZRNERLT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS e MR RME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_T-_=F=A=+—HItFE
24. PARTICULARS OF SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD BY 24, AEERBZEEREZHE(B)
THE GROUP (continued)
Particulars of investment held by the Group as at 31 March 2023 BELFTHUFHNEREIAEBR_F
disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules are as —ZFZRA=t+—BHAZREHBNOT
follows: (continued) (&)
Disposal
Proportion cost/ Dividend
of investee’s carrying Realised  Unrealised received  Netassets
capital Disposal amount of gain (loss) ~ gain (loss) during  attributable to
Name of investee companies %:%eg Cost Fairvalue  consideration ~investment  fortheyear  for the year the year the investment
! RELT : BREZIHE ERDRY EEARR Em RERY
RELAER BALH s AYE LERE  AA/REE W (58) W (E8) BURE EERE

HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
AT T T T FAT A1 AT T
(Note 9) (Note 9) (Note 8)
H29) g (Hiits)

Other listed equity investment 7,221 - 178 (3,480) 369
Afp FHRARE
20,874 (545) (11,899) 4,584
Unlisted equity investment
FLTRARE
Guangdong Jingyeng
Aquacutture Company Limited 1.60% 4220 2,360 - - - (939) - 4022

EAmeskERRARAR

Particulars of investment held by the Group as at 31 March 2022 BEITRNENEBEBEZAEER T

disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules are as ZZF=HA=+—BRBZREFRENAT:
follows:

Disposal
Proportion cost/ Dividend

of investee’s carrying Realised  Unrealised received  Netassets

capital Disposal amount of gain  gain (loss) during attributable to

Name of investee companies %J%egi Cost Fairvalue ~ consideration investment forthe year for the year the year the investment

Z
: §E07 REZHE  BER®R  FEAEE 5y REES
RENFER BRuhl AYHE HERE  AA/REE kg g (BB BHKE BERE

A
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§000
AL FATL FAT T FATL AT AL AL
(Note 9) (Note 9) (Note 8)
i9) (hi9) (i318)

Listed equity investment

LERARE

PCCW Limited 0.0750% 42,708 25,637 = = = 22 1,866 11612
ERENERAA

Bank of China Limited 0.0016% 17,929 14490 - - - 874 978 46,144
PREETRGERAR

Kwong Man Kee Group Limited 4,9985% 9,421 11,696 5 (5) - (1,050) 207 5219
BlisBERAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS e U HRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE-_T-_—F=-fF=+—HILFE

24. PARTICULARS OF SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD BY 24,

THE GROUP (continued)

Particulars of investment held by the Group as at 31 March 2022
disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules are as
follows: (continued)

AEERAECETEREZHE ()

BELTRAENEREZ2ASER T
ToEZ At HRAZREHBOT
(%)

Disposal
Proportion cost/ Dividend
of investee’s carrying Realised  Unrealised received  Netassets
capital Disposal amount of gain  gain (loss) during  attributable to
Name of investee companies %\ggeg Cost Fairvalue  consideration ~ investment  fortheyear  for the year the year the investment
‘ BE03 :  REJME ERESR  EEREE g REEY
RENAER BALH Ak AVE LERE  BA/REE W& bE (B8 BURE EE5E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$'000
FAT AT FAT FAT FAT FAT FAT AT
(Note 9) (Note 9) (Note 8)
(W9 (Hit9) (Hits)
Harbour Equine Holdings Limited
(formerly known as “Shen You
Holdings Limited") 4.1190% 6,404 8,342 - - - 590 - 3780
BEERARERATE
(HBHERRERAR)
MTR Gorporation Limited 0.0030% 7,920 7,783 - - - (312) 25 5,401
BRERERAT
Gemilang International Limited 1.9061% 4,154 3450 - - - (862) 238 2,846
ZIRERERAA
China Construction Bank
Corporation 0.0002% 2912 3,063 = = = 84 7 6,415
TEERRTRNERAT
Ausupreme International
Holdings Limited 1.7520% 341 2,964 2,159 (2,008) 151 61 18 2,921
AEEARARERAT
CK Hutchision Holdings Limited 0.0013% 4,590 2,878 - - - (220) 124 8,375
RINZEZRRAT
Bank of Communications Co.,
ld 0.0014% 2,65 2,810 3,740 (3,469) 205 3% 408 16,786
RRRIRORRAT
Other listed equity investment 4492 - 292 (2.114) 288
ifp FRARE
10,39 718 (2.382) 4449
Unlisted equity investment
FLIRARE
Guangdong Jingyeng
Aquaculture Company Limited 1.60% 4220 3299 - - - 1849 - 4,366

ENTE T kERRRRAR

For listed equity investment, the net assets attributable to the
investment are based on the latest published financial information
of the relevant investment. For unlisted equity investment, the
net assets attributable to the investment are based on the latest
financial statements or management accounts of the relevant
investment.

UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BABSREBR AT

REMBRAREMS  REBRARGEE
FEDNHBARERB TR ZEHTHHE
BRERE -RELTRARENS  RE
RERMGEEFENAABRERA 2 &
MM BHRRAEERE AKIE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

e MR MEE

BE_T-_=F=A=+—HItFE

25. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 25,

During the year, saved as disclosed in elsewhere of the

consolidated financial statements, the Group entered into the

following material balances and transactions with related parties:

BERBBALRS

RAFE  BRixA P BHRREMIH AR
B ARBEUTEBBMALZERE
BRR5

2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
5t FET FHET
Investment management fee paid to Upbest X R EEEE FXEE IR
Assets Management Limited (“UAML") BRAR(ZEER]) (a), (j) 1,414 1,569
Performance fee payable to UAML BNRRBTEREEE (a), () - %
Brokerage commission paid to USCL IRELAETEEES (b), () 101 33
Handling fee for dividend collection paid KR EBKFEE T
to USCL ERBFH (c), (j) 23 22
Commission paid to Upbest Bullion YRAeTFERSE
Company Limited BRAA] (d), (j) - -
Storage fee paid to Upbest Bullion INGFRETERESE
Company Limited BRRAT (e), () - 6
Interest paid to UICL IRFBETFERRKE ®, (0 - %
Interest paid to Upbest Gold and Silver IRFETERERED
Trading Limited BRAF (9), () - 7
Custodian fee paid to OCBC Wing Hang X E B FEB KT HET
Bank Limited BRAA (h) 60 60
Short-term lease expenses to Champion ~ S EHABEHS FIHE
Assets Limited BRAF M, () 264 264

Notes:

(a)

The Company and UAML as investment manager had entered into
the investment management agreement dated 25 January 2019
("2019 Investment Management Agreement”) and agreed that UAML
provides assets management services to the Company for a period
of three years commencing from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2022. The
annual caps for the investment management fee and performance
fee for the financial years ended 31 March 2020, 2021 and 2022 are
HK$8,600,000, HK$9,100,000 and HK$9,600,000 respectively. It was
expected that the total investment management fee and performance
fee will be less than HK$10 million per annum and all the applicable
percentage ratios (as defined under Rule 14.07 of the Listing
Rules) in respect of the 2019 Investment Management Agreement
are less than 25%. Thus, the transaction contemplated under the
2019 Investment Management Agreement is considered to be a de-
minimis transaction for the Company pursuant to Rule 14A.76 of the
Listing Rules and is exempted from annual review, all disclosure and
shareholders’ approval requirements.

Hzt -

(a) APRIEEREE ARELE W-T
—“NF-AZTAANEEREERER
NAIBREEEBERBEI T AH=F8
REERHB ((ZE—NLEREEEY
) BZE-NEMRA—HHRE=Z
= =hE s BIE e B ae bt
F T -FRZZFZZF=ZA=+—
BIEMBEE s RAERERRREBER
£ % 5l A8,600,0005# 7t 9,100,000/
70 59,600,000 T - HHIREERE R
KR BEEE L REF10,000,000% 7T &
BT - NGFREEEREZMEER
BALE(EHER EWHRAE14.0718) 15
B 725% At - IRIE LT R RIE14A.76
G - NEFREEEHHE MR
MR SHEHEERRBFEREREHRTK
TIN5 TEHGETFERERZ 20
BERBREEZHRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

25. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(a)

(continued)

The Company and UAML entered into a new investment management
agreement dated 26 January 2022 (“2022 Investment Management
Agreement”) and agreed that UAML provides assets management
services to the Company for a period of three years commencing
from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2025. The annual caps for the
investment management fee and performance fee for the financial
years ended 31 March 2023, 2024 and 2025 are HK$6,100,000,
HK$6,200,000 and HK$6,300,000 respectively. These continuing
connected transactions were approved at the extraordinary general
meeting of the shareholders held on 29 April 2022.

Pursuant to the 2019 Investment Management Agreement and the
2022 Investment Management Agreement, monthly investment
management fee is payable by the Company in advance and
amounts to 1.5% per annum of the net asset value as at the
immediately preceding valuation date on the basis of the actual
number of days in the relevant calendar month over a year of 365
days. In addition to the management fee, provided that the net asset
value as at the end of the relevant financial year exceeds the higher
of (i) the net asset value as at the end of the reference year; and (i)
the net asset value as at the end of the most recent financial year
after the reference year (the “High Watermark”), a performance fee
will be paid. The Company will pay UAML the performance fee for the
relevant financial year in HK$ equal to 20% of the amount by which
the net asset value as at the end of the relevant financial year exceed
the High Watermark.

The investment management fee has been included under
administrative and other operating expenses. There was no
performance fee for the financial years ended 31 March 2023 and
2022.

UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BABSREBR AT

e MR MEE

HE-_Z-_=#=-A=+—-ALFE

25. BERBRALIRS (&)

st - (&)

(a)

(&

AARREZEERIAHA-ST =
F-AZ+ABZHREEERHZE (=
T__FRECEBRD) EHRRAEX
BREBRAAARIRBEEEERRY &
—_E__FNA-HBE-_E_RE=
A=+—Hit  A¥=F-HE=-T==
F ZE-_NER-ZE-RF=A=1+—
ALt BEEZREEEERREEY
EZFE LR SR A6,100,000% 7T »
6,200,000 7T 126,300,000/ T ° It & #
BHEXSERN-ZE-__FMA=1+ANH
BOOZBRRFRI ARG LB -

BE_Z-NEFREEEHBR_T__
FREEEWZE BAZREERRH
ARAREXNERAKEGEIZEE
FE15% 2 FNERBBEAER B HR
A2F365H 2 HEHE - FiiRREEEH
PHEEIMEEFENBBATERE: ()
SEERINEERE R(VBEFER
B AXNRREZPREENEEF
BE(RKEL] - ARAKAZEEEXM
HEPBREFENRRE (RER BB RS
BIHEEFERBRKUEFEN20%) °

REECRECORETHREMLEE S
HA -HE-Z-_=ZFR-_FT-_—F=A
=t HUEMBEERERRE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

25. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(b)

The Company and four of its subsidiaries and USCL had separately
entered into the securities brokerage supplemental agreements
dated 25 January 2019 (“2019 Securities Brokerage Supplemental
Agreements”) in relation to the provision of securities brokerage
services and agreed that the respective relevant original agreements
will be extended for a period of three years commencing from
1 April 2019 to 31 March 2022. It was expected that the annual
brokerage commission in respect of the 2019 Securities Brokerage
Supplemental Agreements will be less than HK$3,000,000 per annum
and all the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under Rule
14.07 of the Listing Rules) are less than 5%. Thus, the transaction
contemplated under the 2019 Securities Brokerage Supplemental
Agreements is considered to be a de-minimis transaction pursuant to
Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules.

The Company and six of its subsidiaries and USCL have entered into
the securities brokerage supplemental agreement dated 26 January
2022 (“2022 Securities Brokerage Supplemental Agreements”)
and agreed that the respective relevant original agreement will be
extended from the period of 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2025. The
annual cap regarding the securities brokerage service for each of the
financial years ended 31 March 2023, 2024 and 2025 is HK$800,000.
Although the annual caps for the brokerage commission in respect
of the 2022 Securities Brokerage Supplemental Agreements are less
than HK$3,000,000 per annum, one of the applicable percentage
ratios (as defined under Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) is more than
5% but less than 25%, the transaction contemplated under 2022
Securities Brokerage Supplemental Agreements is subject to annual
review and announcement requirement but exempt from the circular
and shareholders’ approval requirements.

Brokerage commission fee is charged at 0.25%, the prevailing market
rate, on the value of the transactions.

Handling fee for dividend collection is charged by USCL at a
minimum of HK$30 or 0.5% per transaction amount, whichever is

higher.

Bullion commission is charged at a range from US$10 to US$50 per
transaction.

Storage fee for precious metals trading is charged at US$2 per day.

e MR MEE

BE_T-_=F=A=+—HItFE

25.

BENBEBALRS (&)

Wit (&)

(b)

AAREENENEAREEEESS R
HREHEREEFCLRBER - NF—
A+ RBEIESLEmARE (=
—“NEBHELHABZD LIRZHS R
ZHBRREERFEH=FA_T—NF
MA—BEZT-_F=A=+—Hik-
BT -NFELLELHAREZLFE
Eic B4 N E43,000,0008 T RFTE
HERABDLE(EER EMHRAE14.0714)
EHERE% o Bt - RIE ETRAIE14A.76
B ZT-NEFELFLLHRGEE T &
ETHR BB AT RERERTEKTE
B 5 o

AAREEAENBARAEEELSER
BA-ZS-—_F—A=Z1+AZELL
LHAHRE ((ZEZ_FBFELHR
HBEHDAEREESBZEBRBELTR
H-_E_—_#NA—BE-_E_A%=AH
=t+—HE-BEZTZ=F - ZT-N
ER-_F-REZA=+—-ALHBEE
EFREHLL RS FE LR A800,0007%
T BE_T-_FREFERBRGE

wiMe 2 FE EREFDR3,000,000%
T ER-HEAASLEX(EER LETR
BI5514.071%) BBiBS%EER25%  RE=
T CERFRRBRABERRETNRS
ABTEEERNAEE R BEHRGE
SRR R R R BLERE ©

SRR WE AR SEEZ0.25% AE
EHTIBEE

LRESABEMUTEENBRERES
BT HEERHLE205% (UBREE
BE) -

ELBEEMRBRAERR SN F10%
JLEB0ETT ©

ELBRHIFREABH2EL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

25. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
Notes: (continued)

()

The Company and two of its subsidiaries had separately entered into
the financial assistance supplemental agreements dated 25 January
2019 (“2019 Financial Assistance Supplemental Agreements”)
with UICL in relation to the provision of securities margin financing
service. According to the 2019 Financial Assistance Supplemental
Agreements, the respective relevant original agreements are further
extended for a period of three years commencing from 1 April 2019
to 31 March 2022. The agreements are subject to renewal by written
supplemental agreements between the contracting parties. The
annual caps for the financial assistance under the 2019 Financial
Assistance Supplemental Agreements and the 2019 Precious Metal
Supplemental Agreement (as defined in Note 25(g)) for each of
the three years ending 31 March 2022 were set at HK$64,000,000.
These continuing connected transactions were approved at the
extraordinary general meeting of the shareholders held on 26 March
2019.

The Company and those two subsidiaries have separately entered
into the financial assistance supplemental agreements dated
26 January 2022 (“2022 Financial Assistance Supplemental
Agreements”) with UICL and agreed that the respective relevant
original agreements will be extended for a period commencing from
1 April 2022 to 31 March 2025 and is subject to renewal by written
supplemental agreements between the contract parties. The annual
caps for the financial assistance under the 2022 Financial Assistance
Supplemental Agreements for each of the three financial years
ending 31 March 2025 are set at HK$46,000,000. These continuing
connected transactions were approved at the extraordinary general
meeting of the shareholders held on 29 April 2022.

The securities margin financing services interest rate is charged at
4.25% above the prime rate per annum and the provision of Initial
Public Offering (“IPO”) financing at an interest rate from 0.20% to
1.5% per annum above the borrowing costs of UICL.

There were no interests for the securities margin financing services
and IPO financing services for the years ended 31 March 2023 and
2022,

UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BBRREBR AR

e MR MEE

HE-_Z-_=#=-A=+—-ALFE

25.

BWEREEALRS (4)

st - (&)

(f)

AARREMEMNBAREEERES R
HRUBFFBRRERBER T —NF—
AR-+HAEIMBEDRAHZE (=
T-NEFUBEDHRGE]) - BEZT
—NFHBEDFERGE BN REH
ZENEEBR=FH-_FT-NFHA—
BE-_T_—_F=ZA=+—H -H=z%®H
ANEERARZENMUMGE BE-T
ZZEZA=T-BLE=EAFEREZZ=
E-NEUHBEDHABER =T —NF
BEeBRHanE (TEAME25(9) BT
B 5 & B) 2 S & LR Jh ] A64,000,0007%
T BERBERERFIER-T-NEF=
A=+ BRITZBERRAS EEIE -

AR RZMEBARAEREENRZ
T--F-B-tABRIUBEYHER
HhE((—E-_—FUBEEBhREAHE])
VTRAEHEANREBEETCERRA-T
ZZEMA-BAEZE-AF=A=1—
B -BRAE T NERHARZENLH
ZHE_T_RAE=-A=1+-HBI=
PREEREC S __FHEEPER
BRBEBTZHBENZEE LR DB
46,000,000/ 7T - LR EBERHE RN
ZEZHFNAZTNAARITZRERS
Re RS-

BHEAERERBFAERE AREEF
Rz EmM425% mAERAHBRBE
REBENXAEZBRAEZEERAME
FME0.20%%E1.5% °

BE_E-_=—FR-_F-__F=A=+-—
BILEFE VEZEHFFRBEREREX
NHRBRBENFE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

25. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(9)

A subsidiary of the Company has entered into the precious metal
supplemental agreement dated 25 January 2019 (2019 Precious
Metal Supplemental Agreement”) with Upbest Gold and Silver
Trading Limited (“UGS”) in relation to the provision of precious metal
margin financing service by UGS to the subsidiary. According to the
2019 Precious Metal Supplemental Agreement, the subsidiary and
UGS agreed that the term for the Precious Metal Financial Assistance
Agreement will be extended for a period of three years commencing
from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2022 and is subject to renewal by
written supplemental agreement between the contract parties. The
annual caps for the financial assistance under the 2019 Financial
Assistance Supplemental Agreements and the 2019 Precious Metal
Supplemental Agreement for each of the three years ending 31
March 2022 were set at HK$64,000,000. These continuing connected
transactions were approved at the extraordinary general meeting of
the shareholders held on 26 March 2019.

Pursuant to the 2019 Precious Metal Supplemental Agreement, the
interest rate for the precious metal financing service was from 0.25%
to 0.50% per annum above the borrowing costs of UGS for call
position. In respect of put position, the interest rate would be 0.25%
to 0.50% per annum on top of the borrowing costs of UGS (if any)
provided that if UGS would receive any interest from its supplier(s),
the subsidiary may set off such financing fee against the interest
received by UGS from its supplier(s). For avoidance of doubt, any
remaining interest received by UGS from its supplier(s) after such
setoff in respect of such put position will be paid to the subsidiary.

There was no interest for the precious metal financing service for the
year ended 31 March 2022.

The subsidiary of the Company and UGS have not further extended
the terms of the 2019 Precious Metal Financial Assistance Agreement
in relation to the provision of precious metal margin financing service
by UGS to the subsidiary of the Company upon its expiry on 31
March 2022.

Pursuant to a custodian agreement dated 22 December 1999,
between the Group and a custodian, the custodian agrees to provide
securities custodian services to the Group including the safe custody
of the Group’s securities and the settlement of the securities of the
Group, the collection of dividends and other entitlements on behalf
of the Group. The appointment of the custodian commenced on the
date of commencement of trading of the Company’s shares on the
Stock Exchange and will continue in force until it is terminated by
either party giving a written notice to the other party at any time. The
custodian is regarded as a connected person of the Company under
Rule 21.13 of the Listing Rules, but the custodian fee falls below the
de-minimis threshold under Rule 14A of the Listing Rules.

e MR MEE

BE_T-_=F=A=+—HItFE

25.

BENBEBALRS (&)

Wit (&)

(9)

AARET—HANBAREEESRES
BRAR ([ZEeR]) HEEESRIIEM
TENBRARIZESBHERERBN =
T-NE-—A-THRZITELEBHEH
Z(ZZ-—NFESEBHRAHBE] - BE
—E-NFELBRHTHRE  ZMBAR
HEZSRAEAHAECBYBEDRR
ZEHBER=FR-_T—NAEMA—H
AIRE—S-—_F=-A=+—HKILE ¥
BAErEERAREEN - HE-T
ZZEZA=T-BLE=EAFEREZZ=
E-NFUBEPRABER-Z-—NEF
EeBHAMEET ZHBENZFEL
BR J5 5] £64,000,000/ 7T © 5 L 15 B R &
RHGER=ZZF-NEFE=ZA=+BE7TZ
RERFRI RS LB -

BRE-T-NFEcBHANRE BES
NzESBRARBFEDRAZES R
ZEEKAR EIFFEFE0.25%£0.50% ° B
BaEEH  FIXAEESREERA L
SEERR0.25%F0.50% (MA) - 5 =
EeRABBEEFOFS  MEBAFE
NEZMBBMARNZENREBREE - A
2R (TS B M R ER A F
B EEAEM A AT R F 8 5
BHREEEIMNTHBAR -

BE_Z-_—F-fA=+-HLEEIE
ECBUBEMRENFS -

AREZMBARRERSBTIERER
SRAARAZHBRARRREES BT
EREREEAN T NEESBIE
EOMENERIEE—SER - ZHER
—E-—f=A=t+—-HE®m-

REAEEETEAR-AANFETZA
“tZ BRI ZEEHE  EEARER
AEER‘ESTERY  SEAKEE
FREERE AEEFF2EE KX
AEEEMRE R EMER - EEAZE
FHREAARARNRERAHLEE

HELY  THEEER EEEM—7
RERBRAEERANS — 7 TUELR
1o R EMRANE21.1305 - TEARR
AARAZBEEAT  BRELHRAE
14AE - FEBERRERRREKFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

25. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(i)

The Company has entered into tenancy agreements with Champion
Assets Limited since 1 January 2011.

On 1 April 2021, the tenancy agreement commenced on 1 April 2021
with a term of one year has been signed. The total rent paid during
the year ended 31 March 2022 amounted to HK$264,000.

On 1 April 2022, the tenancy agreement commenced on 1 April 2022
with a term of one year has been signed. The total rent paid during
the year ended 31 March 2023 amounted to HK$264,000.

The transactions were carried out at an amount agreed by both
parties. Fung Fai Growth Limited, a substantial shareholder of
the Group, is wholly-owned by Cheng's Family Trust. Interested
beneficiaries of the Cheng’s Family Trust include Mr. Cheng Wai Lun,
Andrew and Mr. Cheng Kai Ming, Charles, while Mr. Cheng Kai Ming,
Charles also has a beneficial interest in Champion Assets Limited.

Fung Fai Growth Limited, an investment holding company, holds
approximately 26.74% of the equity interest of the Company. CCAA
Group Limited, an investment company, holds approximately 74.29%
of the equity interest in Upbest Group Limited. The ultimate beneficial
owner of Fung Fai Growth Limited and CCAA Group Limited is
Cheng’s Family Trust. Interested beneficiaries of the Cheng’s Family
Trust include Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew, who is the executive
director of the Company and Upbest Group Limited. UAML, USCL,
Upbest Bullion Company Limited, UICL and UGS are wholly-owned
subsidiaries of Upbest Group Limited, a company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with limited liability and with its shares listed on the
Stock Exchange.

The above transactions were carried out in the normal course
of the Group’s business on terms mutually agreed between the
parties.

UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BBRREBR AR

e MR MEE
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25.

RERBBRALRS (E)

Mt - (&)

(i)

ARARGAARRANEE —HBEH
% R-E—F-A-BRENR-

R-E-_—FNA—B B2 HAaH—
F7REHE R-_T-—EmNA—A#
K -BE_T-_—S£=f=+—HILFE
B2 B & 8% A264,000% T

R-_E-_—FWNA—B 2 MhAaH—
FrHEME R-ZT-__FMA—HE
AR -BE-_ZE-_=#=A=+—HItF
BB RSB 5264,000/ 7T ©

RH2eBHEHREBERE - Fung Fai
Growth Limited (AR R Z EERE) T3/
BRREET2ERA - BERKETLZ
REABBERTERBERPALLE - ME
AL ETEBHEBRARNERER °

BB A AIFung Fai Growth Limited$
BARRE#26.74%0% 4 - 12 & N EICCAA
Group LimitedS B XREEBR A A4
74.29%f%# ° Fung Fai Growth Limited &z
CCAA Group LimitedZ & Bz A A
RBRREET BEREETIZXRHEA
BREBEREE  BRRARAARLEREHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS e MR RME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_T-_=F=A=+—HItFE

26. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 26. AQEHBIRRR

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Non-current assets *RBEE
Interests in subsidiaries i) PNCId £y 85,479 97,962
Current assets REEE
Amount due from a related company & W — ] BT BSE 8 R RRUOR 48 40
Financial assets at FVTPL BEATERERESER
MBEE 238 272
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEEY 609 662
895 974
Current liability nEBaE
Accruals Eft &M 231 241
Net current assets REBEEFE 664 733
Net assets BEEFE 86,143 98,695
Capital and reserves BARKH#E
Share capital B 12,717 12,717
Reserves (Note) s (het) 73,426 85,978
Total equity MR 86,143 98,695
The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and ERRIZHBRRRECEEEER -2 =_=
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 20 June 2023 and FRAZTAYERBEEREL WAHNLT
is signed on its behalf by: ATRREZ
Wong Yun Kuen Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew
Executive Director Executive Director
HITEF HITEE
B BEMR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

RE P BHRERMEE

HE_TZ-_—F=-F=+—HILFE

26. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 26. ADEHBMRRE (E)
(continued)
Note: Biaz -
Share  Contributed Accumulated
premium surplus* losses Total
B RE BEME RERE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
(Note)
(HtEt)
At 1 April 2021 N-_ZE—_—FMA—H 107,217 4,188 (22,185) 89,220
Loss and total comprehensive AEEBEREEMATBE
expenses for the year - - (3,242) (3,242)
At 31 March 2022 R-E==—F=HA=+—H 107,217 4,188 (25,427) 85,978
Loss and total comprehensive RNEEEBENE2HRAY 85
expenses for the year - - (12,552) (12,552)
At 31 March 2023 R-ZE-=#£=R=+-H 107,217 4,188 (37,979) 73,426

3 The contributed surplus represents the difference between the
underlying net assets of the subsidiaries acquired by the Company
and the nominal amount of the share capital issued by the Company

during IPO reorganisation.

UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BIBRREER A A

g BABBRRRADEREBHONE L FRIE
HEEFEEARREERARBRER
RETHRAEE HNER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

27. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
Subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 were

as follows:

e MR MEE

BE_T-_=F=A=+—HItFE

27. TEMBLRHE

R—E_=fRr-_ZF__—_F#=H=+—H

ZARRIMBRARMT :

Percentage of

Issued and equity interest
fully paid and voting power
ordinary share held by the Company
capital KPBAEERER

Place of ERTR REEADLE

Name of subsidiaries incorporation HERFRZ Directly  Indirectly  Principal activities

WERDEHE ot f B 3L 3 B EERE B B IEZEH

% %
Best Idea Development Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100 - Investment holding
("BVI") ETLITT REZER

RERKEE

Blaze Light Investment Limited BVI US$1 100 - Investment holding
RBRIEE ETIT REZR

Cyber Features Limited BVI US$1 = 100  Investment holding
RERKER ETLIT REZK

Effort Assets Limited Samoa US$1 100 - Investment holding
BE T ETIT RERR

Flavor Luck Holdings Limited BVI US$1 100 - Investment holding
EBRAES ETLIT RERR

Loyal Grace Investments Limited BVI US$1 100 - Investment holding

BEREARAF RBRAEE ERIT REZR

Lucky Joy Investments Limited BVI US$1 100 - Investment holding
RERLEE ETIT RERER

Marine Assets Holding Limited BVI US$1 100 - Investment holding
RERIEE ERIT REZR

Profit Mind Group Limited BVI US$1 100 - Investment holding
RBRLES ETIT REZR

Rich Express Holdings Limited BVI US$1 100 - Investment holding

SEERBERAA RERIES ERIT RERR

Super Idea International Limited BVI US$1 100 - Investment holding
RBRAES ETIT REZR

UBA Development Limited BVI US$1 100 - Investment holding
RERLES ERIT RERR

UBA Financial Trading Limited Hong Kong HK$2 50 50 Investment holding
Bk B2 REZK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

27. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 were

28.

29.

as follows: (continued)

e MR MEE

HE-_T-_—F=-fF=+—HILFE

27. TEMBLARFEE (&)

R_E-_=ZFR-_FE-_—_F=ZA=+—H
ZARRRMBRRMT : (&)

Percentage of

Issued and equity interest
fully paid and voting power
ordinary share held by the Company
capital APBEERER
Place of ERTR REEAEDLE
Name of subsidiaries incorporation BERRZ Directly  Indirectly  Principal activities
WELDEHE ot f B 3 3t B i E# B IEEH
% %
UBA Gold Investment Limited Samoa US$1 100 - Bullion trading
BED ERLIT ES2BEE
UBA Technologies Holdings Limited BVI US$1 100 - Investment holding
ABRAES ETIT RERR
UBA Venture Limited BVI US$1 100 - Investment holding
RERKER ETIT RERR
Water Resource Holding Limited BVI US$1 100 - Investment holding
RBRAHEE ETIT RERR
Water Resource Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong HK$1 = 100  Investment holding
0 BT REER

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the

end of the reporting period or at any time during the year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
There is no significant event took place subsequent to the end of

the reporting period.

APPROVAL AND AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 20 June 2028.

UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BABSREBR AT

28.

29.

EMBRARERSHERBREAFERR
By 0 P 36 A8 A ] ) R 102 2 (S R 55

MESH

£

HERRERKES

o
RBEPRRLBEEEFNBERNE -

B %% R

GAEMBBRRCEETEN _T_=FX
AZt+RiERFERED -



UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED’ Ql

ABRERR-LD A \/
Flat B, 16th Floor, Wah Kit Commercial Centre
300 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong
Tel: 852 3575 9396 S e T
B BEEHBE30098 G SR S
ZHFHEDL161EBE
E5 - 852 3575 9396
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